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Smart thinking in terms of strategy, 

finances, human resources, and 

operations has given us an edge. 

We have revitalized our fleet,  

re-ignited our innovative capacity, 

and staked a claim in the 

international market generating 

sustainable, profitable growth. 

We are celebrating our 10th anniversary in 2011, with our core values in hand, we will  

continue to lead the pack in Global Energy Services today and for decades to come.



SS

P R E S I D E N T ’ S  M E S S A G E  /  0 2

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S  /  0 5

C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  /  3 6

CO R P O R AT E  I N F O R M AT I O N  /  6 3

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  /  4 3



2 SAvA N N A  E N E R G Y  S E R v I C E S  C O R P .  2 0 1 0  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

   p r e s i d e n t ’ s  M e s s a G e

Savanna is celebrating our 10th year  

as an organization in 2011.

Savanna has always treasured our status as an innovator  
in our sector, but the fundamental market shift to deeper 
drilling that idled much of our shallow-focused hybrid 
drilling fleet over the last few years not only challenged 
our ability to generate acceptable returns from almost 
one-half of our drilling rig fleet, but also raised questions 
about our ability to reload and recover, both operationally 
and economically. We found the answer to this challenge 
through reference to Savanna’s vision, “Defining leadership 
in global energy services through people, innovation and 
technology – the path for others to follow”.

That vision underpins the tactical strategy for Savanna  
as we revitalize our hybrid drilling fleet through retrofit 
and relocation, and serves notice as well of Savanna’s 
designs on becoming a global force in energy services.  
The numbers show it. Revenue from outside Canada 
reached it highest percentage of total revenues in 2010  
at 30%. While the 2010 contributor was primarily the 
United States, heading into 2011 the contribution from 
outside North America, specifically Australia, will also 
become meaningful.

In late 2010 we delivered the most technically advanced, 
efficient workover and hybrid drilling rigs currently 
operating in Australia. We built, and continue to reinforce, 
very strong relations with our new key employees and 
customers in Australia, with the goal of becoming a 
leading service provider in our operating area. 

We are also generating successful expansion closer  
to home. Working with an existing customer in 
Pennsylvania, we cooperatively designed and initiated 
construction of a state-of-the-art mobile 4,000-metre 
(15,000-foot) AC drilling rig. That rig will reset 
expectations regarding the balance between deep drilling 
capacity and mobility in a very challenging drilling area. 
The rig provides a springboard for similar designs for 
introduction into other areas of North America as well. 

In the past year we have re-ignited our innovative 
capacity, and have begun to stake a claim in the 
international market. It is certainly early, but the 
progress has been excellent and the efforts will continue.

In respect of domestic North American operations, we 
have enhanced our presence in existing bases in Texas, 
Pennsylvania, North Dakota, Alberta and Saskatchewan. 
We have relocated our fleets and focus to areas of 
sustainable oil activity, and substantial natural gas 
potential. We have continued to enhance the balance  
of activity, and revenue, between Canada and the United 
States. The prior label of Savanna as a Canadian, shallow, 
gas-focused operator simply no longer applies. Almost  
30% of our go-forward revenue will come from services 
other than drilling, and over 75% of our drilling revenue 
will derive from our state-of-the-art deep drilling fleet, 
including our TDS-3000TM platform. This is a tremendous 
shift, accomplished in a very short timeframe.

Overall industry activity in drilling and oilfield services 
was moderately higher in 2010 versus 2009, and activity 
levels accelerated in the back half of the year. For 
Savanna, the activity increase exceeded that of the 
overall market for four key reasons:
1. Specific repositioning of field bases, rigs and 

equipment to higher activity areas.
2. Disproportionate overall recovery in activity levels  

in geographic regions in which Savanna’s services  
are concentrated.

3. Upgrade of conventional workover and conventional 
double drilling fleets to enhance their capacity  
and breadth of application.

4. Initiation of hybrid drilling rig retrofit to the 
TDS-3000TM platform and repositioning of the 
fleet to new local and international regions.

the 2010 year represented a transition into the next decade for the 

Company, and an excellent opportunity to clarify our vision/values  

and strategy as we head into the future.
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The first two of these thrusts required establishing 
positions in new markets. Getting the best personnel  
and equipment in place obviously takes time, but we  
are now beginning to reap the rewards of these efforts as 
the upfront costs of these moves are behind us, and are 
being met with higher activity levels and efficiencies in 
current operations.

The upgrades to our conventional drilling and workover 
fleets include the expansion of their depth capacity on 
recertification, as well as the addition of more top drives 
to Savanna’s already industry leading percentage of top 
driven rigs. Savanna’s deep double drilling fleet and 
workover fleet continue to exceed average industry 
utilization rates as a result, and pricing is moving higher 
in reflection of higher activity and the quality of our 
services offering.

After several quarters of planning, design and 
construction, the physical revitalization of our hybrid 
drilling fleet also reached the operational stage in late 
2010. We delivered our first hybrid rig outside North 
America under our five year take-or-pay contract in 
Australia, and we commissioned our first TDS-3000TM 
automated range III drilling rig as well. The challenge  
of addressing our 25-30 hybrid domestic drilling rig 
overcapacity remains, but through these two thrusts 
alone, that excess capacity will be eliminated by the end  
of 2012. By the end of 2011 at least twelve of the retrofits 
and relocations will have been completed. This is 
equivalent to the addition of an equal number of new rigs, 
as the retrofitted rigs operate at effectively full capacity, 
versus less than 20% previously.

The final mix between international placement and 
TDS-3000TM retrofit is certainly fluid and flexible, and is 
dependent on market demand in the many international 
areas Savanna is investigating for application as well as the 
absorption of the TDS-3000TM platform in North America. 
The commitment to completing the retrofit process is 
underway, and we are extremely confident of  
its success and timing.

Savanna’s financial performance and share performance 
has lagged the market for over two years, and the recovery 
from the shock to our business from the vicious decline  
in the market for hybrid drilling did put us on our heels, 
an unfamiliar territory to say the least. Addressing that 
challenge has placed stress not only on the hybrid division, 
but on our conventional drilling, well servicing, and  
rental businesses as well, as they were unable to access  
the capital they desired to accretively grow their own 
operations. I am proud of how all of our operations 
managers handled these challenges, and in their 
unbreakable confidence in their own businesses. Financial 
metrics from every corner of our organization continue to 
improve, and everyone at Savanna remains very focused 
on developing the people, processes and products  
that will generate sustainable profitable growth for the 
organization into the future. We have a strong tactical 
plan, and are executing on that plan. The results to  
date are as we anticipated, and the opportunities  
that will surface once the retrofit process is complete  
are manifold.

In that journey, we will continue to demonstrate the core 
values that have brought Savanna to this point; integrity, 
demonstrating the courage to do the right thing; 
relationships, building collaborative partnerships 
with all stakeholders; excellence, setting the industry 
standard, and; sustainability, balancing short and 
long term success.

We are extremely appreciative of the patience and faith 
that our people, customers and shareholders have 
demonstrated in Savanna, and are excited about our 
expectations of repaying that trust through tangible 
improved results.

Ken Mullen 
President and Chief Executive Officer

p r e s i d e n t ’ s  M e s s a G e

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Statements.
Certain statements and information contained in this annual report may constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable 
Canadian securities legislation and “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the united states private securities litigation reform act 
of 1995. these statements are based on certain factors, assumptions and analysis made by the Company in light of its experience and its perception 
of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. 
However, whether actual results, performance or achievements will conform to the Company’s expectations and predictions is subject to a number of 
known and unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations. Consequently, all  
of the forward-looking information and statements made in this annual report are qualified by this cautionary statement and there can be no assurance 
that the actual results or developments anticipated by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected 
consequences to or effects on the Company or its business or operations. except as may be required by law, the Company assumes no obligation 
to update publicly any such forward-looking information and statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. see 
“Cautionary statement regarding Forward-looking information and statements” in the Company’s “Management’s discussion & analysis”.
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this discussion focuses on key items from the consolidated financial statements of savanna energy services Corp. (“savanna” or “the Company”) for 
the years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009, which have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“Gaap”). this discussion should not be considered all-inclusive as it excludes changes that may occur in general economic, political and 
environmental conditions. additionally, other matters may occur which could affect the Company in the future. this discussion should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes for the fiscal year ended december 31, 2010,  
as well as the Cautionary statement regarding Forward-looking information and statements found at the end of this discussion. additional information 
regarding the Company, including the Company’s annual information Form, is available on sedar at www.sedar.com. 

this management’s discussion and analysis (“Md&a”) is dated March 10, 2011. 

Savanna is a Canadian-based oilfield services 

company with operations in Canada, the 

United States and Australia focused on 

providing fit for purpose equipment and 

technologies. 

Based in Calgary, Alberta and founded in 2001, Savanna 
also has offices in Houston, Texas and Brisbane, Australia 
and several field offices throughout Canada, the United 
States, and Australia. The Company’s focus is strictly 
oilfield services and Savanna’s fleet of drilling and well 
servicing rigs is among the newest and most technically 

advanced in the world. Savanna’s commitment to talent 
and technology has allowed for a strong foothold within 
Canada, enabling the Company to expand its customer 
base to international markets. The Company’s overall 
business is conducted through two major divisions: 
contract drilling and oilfield services. 

M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

For the Year ended december 31, 2010
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M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The following is a summary of selected 

financial information of the Company:

For the years ended december 31 2010 2009 2008

(stated in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) $  $   $ 

OPERATING RESULTS 
revenue 438,396   256,619   460,101 
operating expenses 331,405   199,007  320,821 
operating margin(1) 106,991  57,612  139,280 
impairment loss – (27,370) (319,365)
 per share: basic  – (0.39) (5.39)
 per share: diluted – (0.39) (5.39)
net earnings (loss)  8,313  (27,893)  (280,660)
 per share: basic 0.11  (0.40) (4.73)
 per share: diluted 0.11  (0.40) (4.73)

CASH FLOWS 
operating cash flows(1) 81,961  41,072   107,619 
 per diluted share 1.04   0.58  1.81 
Cash paid on the purchase of capital assets(1)  (104,607) (66,224) (172,514)
dividends paid  (1,977) (6,902) (7,415)

  2010 2009 2008

FINANCIAL POSITION AT DECEMBER 31

Working capital(1) 78,873  51,016   85,610 
Capital assets(1) 898,287   869,411  898,049 
total assets 1,052,368   977,159   1,038,231 
long-term debt 112,802  70,107  202,274

For the Year ended december 31, 2010
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M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

Financial Highlights 2010 Compared to 2009 
Overall, 2010 was a year of improving oilfield service 
industry fundamentals. Strong oil prices and increased 
activity in liquids rich and/or unconventional natural  
gas plays created more demand for drilling, completion 
and maintenance services throughout North America. 
During the year, Savanna refocused its equipment and 
field presence to address this shift in demand and to 
cushion, to the extent possible, the decline in natural  
gas focused field activity based on the low pricing for  
that commodity. The increase and shift in demand for 
oilfield services, coupled with Savanna’s repositioning 
efforts, led to an overall increase in operating days, hours 
and rates in the Company’s drilling and oilfield services 
divisions. As a result, revenues in each of the operating 
divisions increased significantly compared to 2009 and 
operating margins nearly doubled from a year ago.

Savanna’s deep conventional drilling rigs, in particular, 
contributed the most to the improved results in 2010.  
The conventional drilling rigs in the U.S. had very  
high utilization rates throughout the year as did the 
Canadian drilling rig fleet which achieved above-market 
utilization rates in Canada through all of 2010. Through 
these strong utilization rates and gradually increasing  
day rates, the conventional drilling division contributed 
over 60% of Savanna’s total 2010 operating margin. 
Similarly, the Company’s oilfield services segment also 
generated above-market utilization in Canada and the  
U.S. in 2010, increasing year over year operating margins 
by more than 50%.

Savanna’s hybrid drilling fleet, which due to the 
depressed shallow drilling market suffered from both 
weak utilization and weak pricing throughout 2010, also 
achieved improved operating margins. Margins increased 
by nearly 60% compared to 2009. However, it remains 
a core focus of Savanna to reduce its reliance on the 
seasonal, volatile shallow market in Canada. The key 
strategies in this regard began in 2010 with the retrofit of 
the first two hybrid drilling rigs for work in Australia and 
the retrofit of two hybrid drilling rigs to deeper capacity 
TDS-3000TM drilling rigs. The two TDS-3000TM drilling 
rigs began work in Q4 2010 and the results were positive. 
The first of the two hybrid drilling rigs retrofitted for work 
in Australia will initiate operations soon and the second 
should begin working in late Q2 or early Q3 2011. 

Savanna’s Australia operations also began to take shape 
in 2010; the Company secured a shop and yard in 
Toowoomba, Queensland, and engaged all key operations, 
safety, administrative and management personnel to 
sustain the operations. The first two purpose-built service 
rigs for Australia commenced operations in December 
2010; however extreme weather in the region resulted in 
both service rigs suffering extensive damage in Q1 2011 
due to flooding. Repairs to both rigs have begun and they 
are expected to be operational by the time field access 
is possible in the region. The total cost for restoration 
and repairs to the rigs is expected to be fully reimbursed 
through insurance, excluding a deductible of $0.5 million, 
which was accrued in 2010. The setup of infrastructure in 
Australia and other startup costs, coupled with a cessation 
of operations due to weather, had a negative effect on 
Savanna’s results for 2010, particularly in the fourth 
quarter. However, by Q3 2011 Savanna still expects to 
have a fleet of four hybrid drilling rigs, three service rigs 
and ancillary equipment all generating returns for  
the Company in Australia.

With the goal of repositioning and refocusing its 
operations, Savanna disposed of certain under-utilized 
and redundant assets in 2010 for gross proceeds of  
$9.5 million. Although the Company realized a book loss 
of $2.4 million on the sale of these assets, the proceeds 
were redirected towards Savanna’s capital initiatives 
focused on its core operations in the year.

Despite capital expenditures of $105 million in 2010, 
cash flows generated from improved operations in the 
year sustained Savanna’s balance sheet strength. The 
Company has a debt-to-equity ratio of 14% and net debt(1) 
of $34 million on $898 million of capital assets. Savanna’s 
financial position at December 31, 2010 provides for 
considerable flexibility heading into 2011.

2008

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
($ million)

2009 2010
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M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

Financial Highlights 2009 Compared to 2008
2009 represented one of the most challenging years 
ever faced by the oilfield services industry as significant 
increases in North American gas supplies were met with 
a sharp decline in demand as a result of the worldwide 
economic slowdown. This caused a significant drop in 
demand for both drilling and well servicing. The decline 
in demand for oilfield services in conventional basins 
in North America produced one of the least active first 
quarters in Canadian oilfield services in over a decade. 
This unprecedented low demand continued through the 
second quarter and, coupled with the normal seasonal 
effects of spring break-up, utilization levels in Canada 
were held at record lows. Activity levels did improve 
slightly during the third and fourth quarters of 2009  
in both Canada and in the United States. In Canada,  
the number of wells and meters drilled in 2009 was  
less than half of that drilled in 2008 as Canadian activity 
levels overall for the industry continued to significantly  
lag those of the rest of North America and internationally.

Savanna’s challenges certainly mirrored those of the 
industry in 2009. With about 80% of its drilling rigs and 
90% of its well servicing fleet based in Canada during  
the year, Savanna was negatively affected by the industry 
conditions in Canada to a greater extent than those  
with broader geographic operations. Furthermore, with 
approximately half of Savanna’s drilling rig fleet focused 
on shallow drilling, the collapse of the Canadian shallow 
market in particular took an even greater toll on 2009 
utilization rates. Overall, the decrease in demand for 
oilfield services led to a decrease in operating days, hours 
and rates in the Company’s drilling and oilfield services 
divisions respectively compared to 2008, reducing year 
over year revenues and margins in each of the divisions. 

Fourth quarter and full year 2009 earnings were also 
negatively impacted as a result of non-cash impairment 
losses on the Company’s surface/coring drilling rigs  
and coil tubing service units. Based on the long-term 
uncertainty surrounding these assets specifically, and  
their non-core nature, the Company deemed that they 
were permanently impaired and recognized a loss of  
$25.8 million. Certain related intangible assets were also 
considered to be permanently impaired which resulted  
in a further loss of $1.5 million. 

MARKET TRENDS
Savanna’s business depends significantly on the level  
of spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, 
development, production, and abandonment activities. 
Sustained increases or decreases in the price of natural gas 
or oil could materially impact such activities, and thereby 
materially affect its financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows (see “Risks and Uncertainties” in this 
MD&A and “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual 
Information Form).

Due to extreme fluctuations in the prices for both oil  
and natural gas, the oil and gas industry is subject to 
significant volatility. Throughout 2010, natural gas prices, 
which have historically been a significant driver for 
Savanna’s core market, remained at the low levels seen  
in 2009. With high North American storage levels and 
strong production from liquids rich and unconventional 
plays, there remains uncertainty regarding the near-term 
pricing of this commodity. However, demand for natural 
gas in North America has been recovering over the past 
few quarters and has, to date, coupled with natural 
production declines from existing conventional 
production, almost matched the increased overall supply. 
What is clear is that the focus remains very much on deep 
unconventional plays, while conventional and shallow 
drilling for natural gas remains muted. How this balance 
settles will in large measure dictate natural gas supply and 
pricing. In contrast, oil prices have remained strong, 
generating a steady surge in oil-focused drilling, 
completion and maintenance activity, which has buffered 
the activity void from reduced natural gas service demand. 

As a result of the shift by Savanna’s customers between 
natural gas drilling and oil drilling, as well as development 
of new core areas of activity, Savanna has expended 
considerable effort on repositioning its Canadian based 
drilling and well servicing fleet into more oil-focused 
regions, while continuing to expand its U.S. fleet, which 
is also primarily oil-focused. This has correspondingly 
led to a reduced focus on historical core areas. Savanna’s 
business depends heavily on the nature of wells drilled by 
its customers and their geographic focus. Dramatic shifts 
in well depths or core areas can, despite the mobility of 
drilling and well servicing equipment, temporarily disrupt 
the demand for Savanna’s services. These shifts can occur 
rapidly, requiring a corresponding shift in Savanna’s asset 
or geographic focus. Savanna continuously attempts to 
anticipate these shifts and react to them.
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M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

The Company also has a substantial inventory of  
drilling and well servicing-related rental assets and 
support equipment.

During the first and second quarters of 2010, the 
Company sold its entire fleet of eight coil tubing service 
units and related equipment for gross proceeds of  
$3.7 million which resulted in a loss of $1.7 million.  
This was a non-core business unit that was added as a 
result of the 2006 merger with Western Lakota Energy 
Services Inc. and had been under-utilized through most  
of 2009, which in turn led to impairment losses in Q4 2009.

In the third and fourth quarters, the Company also 
disposed of four surface-setting rigs for aggregate 
proceeds of $3.6 million, reducing the surface/coring 
fleet to five rigs. Similar to the coil tubing service units, 
these rigs were part of a non-core business unit that was 
added as a result of the 2006 merger with Western Lakota 
Energy Services Inc. The surface/coring fleet had also 
been under-utilized through most of 2008 and 2009 and 
the Company recorded impairment losses on those rigs in 
Q4 2009. The disposition of these four surface-setting rigs 
resulted in a loss of $0.4 million.

Throughout 2010, Savanna rationalized other redundant 
assets which resulted in a loss of $0.3 million on gross 
proceeds of $2.2 million.

Subsequent to the end of the year, the Company sold its 
machining and pipe inspection facility and a majority 
of the related assets for gross proceeds of $3.2 million. 
The assets sold were purchased with and operated as a 
non-core part of Savanna’s rental business in the oilfield 
services segment. At December 31, 2010, the carrying 
amount of the assets was $3.7 million; these assets were 
reclassified from property and equipment to current 
assets on the balance sheet. The remaining $0.5 million 
of assets continue to be held for sale and are measured at 
fair value, which is the amount the Company expects to 
receive on their ultimate disposition; any resulting gain  
or loss in 2011 is not expected to be material. 

EQUIPMENT FLEET
The following table outlines the Company’s drilling and service rig fleet by type of rig:

as at december 31 2010 2009 Change

DRILLING RIGS  
Heavy and ultra-heavy telescoping doubles  49  49  –
north american hybrid  42  46  (4)
international hybrid 2 – 2
tds-3000tM  2  – 2
triples   2   2  –
pipe-arm single  1  1  –
surface/coring   5   9  (4)

total drilling rigs (gross)  103  107  (4)
total drilling rigs (net)*  99  103  (4)

SERVICE RIGS  
service rigs  68  66  2
Coil tubing service units   –  8  (8)

total service rigs (gross)  68  74  (6)
total service rigs (net)*  66  72  (6)

* eight drilling rigs and four service rigs were owned in 50/50 limited partnerships at december 31, 2010 and december 31, 2009. 
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M a n a G e M e n t ’ s  d i s C u s s i o n  a n d  a n a lY s i s

In 2010, three drilling rigs and one service rig were moved 
to the U.S. from Canada; two of the double drilling rigs 
were retrofitted as part of the Company’s capital program 
and deployed to the Permian Basin in Texas and the other 
moved into the Marcellus shale play in Pennsylvania.  
The service rig moved into the Company’s North Dakota 
operations base. In Q3 2010, a CT-2200 hybrid drilling  
rig was moved from the U.S. to Canada to meet contract 
commitments in Canada.

In addition, during Q3 2010, the Company’s customer in 
Mexico released all four of Savanna’s drilling rigs as a result 
of a suspension in drilling under the contract pursuant  
to which Savanna’s customer had been operating. The  
rigs were moved from location in Mexico to Texas at the 
Mexico customer’s expense. From Texas, one of the high 
specification conventional double drilling rigs moved to 
Canada, another moved into the Marcellus shale play in 
Pennsylvania and the other two have moved to the Permian 
Basin in Texas. The four rigs are all under term contracts and 
the mobilization costs were paid for by the new customers.

In Q4 2010, two new service rigs were commissioned and 
began operations near Toowoomba, Queensland. These  
were the first Savanna rigs to begin work under the five-year 
contract in Australia. Extreme rainfall halted operations  
soon after they commenced, resulting in lower than expected 
utilization. The situation worsened as the service rigs were 
caught in a primary flood zone and both rigs suffered 
extensive damage in January 2011. Repairs to both rigs have 
begun and they are expected to be operational once lease 
roads have dried enough to allow for movement of heavy 
equipment and its customer’s locations are ready to 
recommence operations; likely in late March or early April 
2011. The total cost for restoration and repairs to the rigs  
is expected to be covered by Savanna’s insurance program, 
subject to the payment of a deductible of $0.5 million, which 
was accrued in 2010. The Company does not carry business 
interruption insurance.  

Subsequent to the end of the year, the first of the two 
hybrid drilling rigs retrofitted for operations in Australia 
was rigged up and commissioned in Savanna’s yard in 
Toowoomba and is awaiting conditions in the field drying 
sufficiently to initiate operations. The Company expects 
this rig to begin operations in late March or early April 
2011. The second retrofitted hybrid drilling rig is expected 
to arrive in Australia shortly and should start work in  
late Q2 or early Q3 2011. The retrofit of two additional 
hybrid drilling rigs is also nearing completion, as is the 
construction of a third service rig for Australia. These 
three rigs are expected to be available for the Australian 
market in Q3 2011. The delay in the commencement of 
operations in Australia, compared to what was originally 
anticipated, allowed Savanna to put some of the crews 
identified to operate the Australian rigs to work in Canada 
for Q1 2011, partially alleviating the shortage of 
manpower that Savanna is facing in that region.

The delay in operations and rig damage caused by the 
flooding does not negatively affect the terms of Savanna’s 
existing take-or-pay contract supporting its Australian 
operations. Savanna remains committed to building a 
strong core area in Australia and the Company has been 
setting up infrastructure to not only accommodate the 
four drilling rigs and three service rigs described above 
but also future anticipated expansion. The ramp up of 
Savanna’s Australian operations began in Q3 2010 and 
includes an office in Brisbane and an office, shop and yard 
in Toowoomba. The related startup costs included in the 
Company’s 2010 results amount to $1.9 million associated 
with the negotiation of the contracts and the set up of 
infrastructure in Australia; $0.8 million (Q4 2010 –  
$0.2 million) is included in operating expenses and  
$1.1 million (Q4 2010 – $0.6 million) is included in 
general and administrative expenses. All startup costs 
were substantially incurred by December 31, 2010.  

The following outlines the Company’s deployment of its drilling and service rig fleet by geographic location and excludes 
the Company’s five coring rigs (2009 – nine coring rigs and eight coil tubing service units) located in Canada:

as at december 31 2010 2009 Change

DRILLING RIGS  
Canada  74  77  (3)
united states  22 17  5
international 2  4 (2)

total drilling rigs  98 98  –

SERVICE RIGS  
Canada  57  58  (1)
united states  9  8  1
international  2  – 2

total service rigs  68  66  2
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The crews retained in Australia subsequent to the flooding 
have continued to earn their wages in 2011 and have been 
working on both the clean up and restoration of Savanna’s 
equipment and on the clean up and restoration of the 
community in which Savanna’s operations are located.  

The Company’s 2010 and 2011 capital commitments are 
focused on sustaining the existing fleet and adding to its 
capabilities through rig upgrades and new rig additions. 
Under Savanna’s 2010 capital program, the following 
initiatives were undertaken and completed during the year:
• construction of two new service rigs for deployment  

in Australia; 
• retrofit of two hybrid drilling rigs for deployment  

in Australia; 
• retrofit of two hybrid drilling rigs as TDS-3000TM

drilling rigs; 
• retrofit of two conventional double drilling rigs for 

deployment in the United States; 
• retrofit of one service rig for deployment in the  

United States; 
• purchase of four new portable top drives; and
• expansion of the rental fleet.

Subsequent to their construction or retrofit, all of the 
equipment above, except for the two hybrid rigs which  
were in transit to Australia, operated in 2010. Based on 
Savanna’s previously announced 2011 capital program and 
carry-over of outstanding projects from the Company’s 
2010 capital program, Savanna anticipates expending  
$113 million in 2011 on the following: 
• construction of one new service rig for deployment  

in Australia, expected completion Q2 2011; 
• retrofit of two hybrid drilling rigs for deployment  

in Australia, expected completion Q2 2011;  
• retrofit of six hybrid drilling rigs as TDS-3000TM drilling 

rigs, expected completion Q3 2011; 
• completion of construction of two new high specification 

deep double drilling rigs, initiated in 2010, for deployment 
in the United States, expected completion Q3 2011;

• purchase of four new portable top drives, expected 
completion Q2 2011; and

• completion of construction of one new flush-by service 
rig, initiated in 2010, expected completion Q2 2011. 

The two new high specification deep double drilling rigs 
and the first four TDS-3000TM rigs to be retrofitted in 2011 
have already been contracted. There is also significant 
interest in the other two TDS-3000TM rigs being retrofitted 
in 2011 and Savanna expects to have all of these rigs under 
contract before they are field ready.

CONTRACT DRILLING
Savanna provides contract drilling services predominantly 
through its proprietary hybrid drilling rigs and telescoping 
double drilling rigs, the majority of which were designed 
and built by the Company in the last ten years. Savanna 

also operates triple drilling rigs, a pipe arm single drilling 
rig, coring rigs and newly designed TDS-3000TM drilling 
rigs. In 2010, the drilling division operated in Canada,  
the United States and Mexico.

(stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per day) three Months ended twelve Months ended

december 31 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

revenue $ 107,633   $  68,478  57% $ 349,074 $  199,177  75%
operating expenses $  77,305   $ 50,316  54% $ 265,545 $  156,980  69%
operating margin(1) $  30,328   $ 18,162  67% $  83,529 $ 42,197  98%
operating margin %(1)  28%  27%   24%  21% 
operating days*   5,313   3,704  43%  18,373    10,337  78%
revenue per operating day $  20,258 $ 18,488  10% $  18,999 $ 19,268  (1%)
spud to release days*†   4,676   3,096  51%  15,918   8,823  80%
Wells drilled†  852    502  70%   2,424   1,788  36%
total meters drilled†   1,115,888   721,824  55%  3,396,277    2,188,274  55%
utilization – Canada†  47%  31% 52%  39%  22% 77%
utilization – international†  79%  56% 41%  70%  48% 46%
Canadian industry average utilization±  49%  31% 58%  40%  24% 67%

* the number of operating days and number of spud to release days are all on a net basis which means only savanna’s proportionate share of any 
rigs held in 50/50 limited partnerships have been included. 

† savanna reports its rig utilization based on spud to release time for the rigs and excludes moving, rig up and tear down time, even though revenue 
may be earned during this time. savanna’s rig utilization, spud to release days, wells drilled and total meters drilled exclude coring rigs as the 
operating environment is not comparable to the Company’s other drilling rigs, nor to industry utilization drivers. However, these rigs are included 
in total fleet numbers.

± source of industry figures: Canadian association of oilwell drilling Contractors (“CaodC”).
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Fourth Quarter Results
In the fourth quarter of 2010, Savanna’s drilling division 
achieved higher revenue, operating margins and operating 
margin percentages compared to any of the last seven 
preceding quarters. The fourth quarter results were  
driven by continuing overall improvements in the North 
American oil and gas industry in 2010 and resulted in  
a significant increase in operating days, day rates, revenue 
and operating margins in both Canada and the U.S. this 
quarter compared to Q4 2009. Of Savanna’s average 
deployed fleet of 100 net rigs in Q4 2010, 78 operated in 
Canada and 22 operated in the U.S.; in Q4 2009, 82 rigs 
were located in Canada, 16 rigs were in the U.S. and four 
were in Mexico. 

Increases in operating days and revenue were achieved  
by both hybrid and conventional drilling rigs; however,  
the conventional drilling rigs, in particular, showed 
the most significant increases in Q4 2010 compared 
to the same period in 2009. Conventional drilling rigs, 
which account for approximately half of Savanna’s total 
drilling rig fleet, achieved 73% of the operating days and 
contributed 82% of the overall operating margin in Q4 
2010. In Q4 2009, conventional drilling rigs accounted 
for 78% of the operating days and 83% of operating 
margin. Also during the fourth quarter, Savanna’s first 
two TDS-3000TM rigs began operations and the results 
were encouraging based on customer feedback, operating 
results and financial results.

Variable operating costs per operating day were higher  
in the fourth quarter of 2010 compared to the same 
period in 2009 as a result of a 5% increase in labour rates, 
which went into effect on October 1, 2010; Savanna was 
able to pass these increases on to its customers. Despite 
this increase in per day labour costs, overall operating 
costs were lower as a percentage of revenue in Q4 2010 
compared to Q4 2009. The primary reason for the 
improvement in operating margin was the fixed portion  
of operating costs was distributed over a greater number  
of operating days in Q4 2010 compared to Q4 2009 when 
activity levels were lower.

Annual Results
Improvements in industry activity levels resulted in a 
significant increase in operating days and revenue in all 
areas in which Savanna operated in 2010, which doubled 
operating margins compared to 2009. As with the quarter 
ended December 31, 2010, throughout the year, Savanna’s 
conventional drilling rigs, in particular, have showed the 
most significant increases in operating days, revenue 
and operating margins. In 2010, conventional drilling 
rigs achieved 75% of the operating days (2009 – 69%) 
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and 80% of the overall operating margin (2009 – 77%). 
The increases in conventional drilling results are due to 
increased demand for deeper drilling compared to shallow 
drilling and is further evidenced by the increase in the 
number of days and meters per well drilled in 2010. 

Operating costs per operating day were lower in 2010 
compared to 2009. The improvement is due primarily 
to the fixed portion of operating costs being distributed 
over a greater number of operating days in 2010. Going 
forward, this reduction will be muted as a result of the 
wage increases introduced effective October 1, 2010. 
Additionally, extra rig personnel were retained in Q3 
2010, primarily on the hybrid drilling rigs, in anticipation 
of a busy winter drilling season. The oilfield services 
industry is currently experiencing a shortage of qualified 
rig personnel and the Company felt it was necessary to 
attempt to retain key rig personnel during a lower utilization 
period in Q3 2010 in order to take advantage of the 
expected increases in activity this winter. Benefits of these 
retention costs were already realized in Q4 2010 and the 
Company expects to realize further benefits in Q1 2011.  
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Also included in operating expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2010, are the costs associated with 
deploying drilling rigs into different geographical areas.  
A portion of these costs are recovered from our customers 
and are included in revenue, however, these costs have 
had a negative effect on operating margins overall in 2010. 
The following approximates the effect Savanna’s fleet 
repositioning costs have had on operating margins: 

OILFIELD SERVICES
Savanna provides well servicing and rental equipment to 
the oil and gas industry in Canada and the United States 
and has recently expanded to Australia. The Company 

Fourth Quarter Results
Continued improvements in the North American oil  
and gas industry in Q4 2010 resulted in an increase in 
operating hours, pricing, revenue and operating margin  
in the quarter compared to Q4 2009. The increases  
were achieved in both Canada and the U.S. in both well 
servicing and oilfield rentals. Savanna’s first revenues  
from its Australia operations were also earned in  
Q4 2010 as the first two well servicing rigs began working 
there in December; however extreme rainfall limited 
operations in 2010 resulting in lower than expected 
revenues and negative operating margins. 

Included in revenue for Q4 2010, was $4.6 million from 
oilfield rentals, nearly double the $2.4 million in oilfield 
rentals revenue in Q4 2009. The increase in oilfield rentals 
revenue is due to the increase in overall industry activity. 
Of the Q4 2010 rental revenue, $0.4 million (2009 –  
$0.6 million) is eliminated on overall consolidation  
as inter-segment revenue. Oilfield rentals revenue is 
excluded from the per hour revenue calculations above.

Repositioning costs and recoveries 2010

(stated in thousands of dollars) $

revenue 1,526
operating expenses 2,587 
operating margin(1) (1,061)

The ultimate contributions of these re-deployed assets 
have and are expected to continue to outweigh the 
repositioning costs and many of the contracts reflect a 
specific recovery of these costs through higher day rates.

operates double and single well servicing rigs and a wide 
array of rental equipment.

The decrease in margin percentages is due primarily  
to the costs relating to the start up of well servicing 
operations in Australia and the effect the extreme rainfall 
had on those operations. Ignoring the negative margins 
realized on the commencement of Savanna’s Australian 
operations, operating margin percentages were 28%  
in Q4 2010. In addition, the fleet in Canada required  
more repairs in 2010 after a much busier operating year. 
Savanna’s activity levels in Canada had been depressed 
through most of 2009. During this time costs were 
incurred to keep the fleet in good working order for the 
eventual return to more favourable operating conditions. 
As a result, as operating activity increased in Q4 2009, 
fewer repairs were necessary, however after a year of 
increased operations, further repairs and maintenance 
were required. Labour rates also increased by approximately 
4% in Q4 2010; however Savanna was able to recover the 
higher labour costs through increased hourly rates.

(stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per hour) three Months ended twelve Months ended

december 31 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

revenue $ 28,231  $ 17,447  62% $  91,359  $ 59,551  53%
operating expenses $ 21,531  $ 11,928  81% $ 68,518  $  44,697  53%
operating margin(1) $  6,700  $  5,519  21% $ 22,841  $ 14,854  54%
operating margin %(1)  24%  32%   25%  25% 
operating hours*  34,354   24,011  43%   116,274    75,807  53%
revenue per hour $ 687  $ 629  9% $ 655  $ 657  0%
utilization – Canada†  56%  37% 51%  46%  29% 59%
utilization – international†  70%  59% 19%  69%  57% 21%

* the number of operating hours is on a net basis which means only savanna’s proportionate share of any rigs held in 50/50 limited partnerships 
has been included. 

† utilization is based on standard hours of 3,650 per rig per year. the utilization rate excludes the coiled tubing service units since these units are not 
comparable in size or operations to the division’s service rigs. reliable industry average utilization figures, specific to well servicing, are not available. 
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Annual Results
Improvements in industry activity levels in 2010 also 
resulted in significant increases in operating hours, 
revenue and operating margin overall for the year. 
Again the increases were achieved in both Canada and 
the U.S. Additionally, the Company’s efforts to reduce 
operating costs in the latter part of 2009, including a 6% 
reduction in wages for all rig personnel, and the effect 
of spreading fixed operating costs over higher activity 
levels in 2010, lowered per hour operating costs for the 
first three quarters of 2010 compared to 2009. However, 
wage increases, increases in repairs and maintenance 
and the effect of startup costs and low utilization in 
Savanna’s Australian operations in Q4 2010 negatively 
affected operating costs in Q4 2010 and as a result 
operating margin percentages remained flat year over year. 
Furthermore, with the current shortage of qualified rig 
personnel in the oilfield services industry, the Company 

felt it was necessary to retain extra rig personnel in late 
summer and fall in anticipation of a busy winter season. 
As a result, additional labour costs were incurred in the 
third quarter of 2010, however, the Company was able to 
get more equipment to work than it otherwise would have 
in Q4 2010 and the Company expects to benefit from this 
strategy in 2011.

Included in revenue for the year ended December 31, 
2010, was $15.3 million from oilfield rentals (2009 – 
$9.8 million). As with the quarter ended December 31, 
2010, the increase in oilfield rentals revenue for the year 
is due to the increase in overall industry activity and 
an expanded fleet of rental assets. Of the 2010 rental 
revenue, $2.7 million (2009 – $2.7 million) is eliminated 
on overall consolidation as inter-segment revenue. Oilfield 
rentals revenue is excluded from the per hour revenue 
calculations above.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(stated in thousands of dollars) three Months ended twelve Months ended

  2010 2009  2010 2009 
december 31 $ $ Change $ $ Change

General and administrative expenses  11,713   5,459  115%  31,563    20,517  54%
 as a % of revenue  8.6%  6.4%   7.2%  8.0% 
stock-based compensation  1,300   838  55%  4,952    4,450  11%
depreciation and amortization  14,310   12,214  17%  49,662    35,814  39%
impairment loss  –   27,370  (100%)  –    27,370  (100%)
interest on long-term debt  1,477   1,289  15%  6,070    5,119  19%
other (income) expenses  1,894   223  749%  2,865    433  562%
income tax expense (recovery)  1,252   (5,519) ∆  3,566    (8,198) ∆
effective income tax rate  20%  23%    30%  23%

∆ Calculation not meaningful
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The overall increase in general and administrative 
expenses for the quarter and year ended December 31, 
2010, compared with the same periods in 2009 reflects 
Savanna’s expansion into new markets over the last 
twelve months, including startup operations in Australia, 
significant sales and marketing efforts in 2010 and the 
effect of the reversal of salary and wage roll backs in  
2010 that were in place from April to December 2009. 
Together with the startup costs for Australia, in Q4 
2010, the Company incurred one time expenses, 
including insurance deductibles, severance and other 
adjustments, aggregating $2.6 million. Overall, general 
and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage 
of revenue in 2010 compared to 2009 due to the increase 
in revenues year over year. Ignoring the one time costs 
described above general and administrative expenses are 
consistent as a percentage of revenue for both the quarter 
and year ended December 31, 2010.

The increase in stock-based compensation for the quarter 
and year ended December 31, 2010 compared to the same 
periods in 2009 is due primarily to the increase in the 
mark-to-market adjustment on deferred share units in 
2010 and the issuance of and mark-to-market adjustment 
on performance share units in the third and fourth 
quarters respectively in 2010.

The overall increase in depreciation and amortization for 
the quarter and year ended December 31, 2010 compared 
to the same periods in 2009, is primarily due to increased 
activity levels, as a most of the Company’s assets are 
depreciated based on operating days or hours. 

In the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company determined 
that indications of impairment existed on its under 
utilized surface/coring drilling rigs and coil tubing 
service units acquired through the 2006 merger with 

Western Lakota Energy Services Inc. Through most of 
2009 the oil and gas industry was negatively affected 
by depressed oil and natural gas demand and pricing 
leading to lower industry activity levels and utilization 
rates. More specifically, the market for these types of 
equipment was uncertain and prospects for improvement 
were questionable. As a result, an impairment loss of 
$25.8 million was included in the consolidated statement 
of net loss. As described under “Equipment Fleet” in this 
MD&A, all of the coil tubing service units and almost half 
of the surface/coring drilling rig fleet were sold in 2010. 
Additionally, at December 31, 2009 impairment tests 
were performed on intangible assets. As a result, a loss 
of $1.5 million relating to intangible asset impairment 
was included in the consolidated statement of net loss. 
The amount of these impairment losses were a result 
of management’s best estimates of expected revenues, 
expenses and cash flows and were based on information 
that was available at December 31, 2009. No indicators 
of impairment were identified in 2010 and impairment 
tests preformed at December 31, 2010 indicated that the 
fair value of the Company’s capital assets exceeded their 
carrying amounts; as a result no impairment losses were 
recognized in 2010.

The increase in interest expense in Q4 2010 compared  
to Q4 2009 is primarily a result of an increase in 
the average balances outstanding on the Company’s 
committed revolving debt facility in each respective 
quarter. The increase in interest expense for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 compared to 2009 is due 
primarily to an increase in average borrowing costs on  
the revolving debt facility compared to the prior year, 
which was somewhat offset by a decrease in the average 
balance outstanding year over year. 

The breakdown of other (income) expenses is as follows:

(stated in thousands of dollars) three Months ended twelve Months ended

  2010 2009 2010 2009
december 31 $ $ $ $

(Gain) loss on disposal of assets  1,339   (61)  2,445   169 
loss on sale of long-term investment  652   –   652   – 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (75)  178   (161)  99 
other  (22)  106   (71)  165

   1,894   223   2,865   433 
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Throughout 2010, the Company sold certain redundant 
and under-utilized assets for gross proceeds of $9.5 million 
which resulted in losses of $2.4 million. The majority 
of these losses relate to the sale of Savanna’s coil tubing 
service units and surface-setting rigs as described 
under “Equipment Fleet” in this MD&A. In Q4 2010, 
the Company also sold a long-term investment that 
arose from the prior settlement of outstanding accounts 
receivable for proceeds of $0.4 million which resulted in 
a loss of $0.7 million. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
arise on the settlement of foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities (gains and losses on translation of 
foreign subsidiaries are included in other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”)); the change year over year is due 
primarily to the change in the value of the U.S. dollar 
relative to the Canadian dollar in the respective periods. 

The increase in income tax expense is primarily a result  
of the increase in activity levels and the resulting higher 
pre-tax earnings in 2010 compared to 2009. In addition,  
the reductions in the Canadian tax rate for 2010 and  
future years have been more than offset by the higher  
U.S. and international tax rates the Company expects to 
experience due to its increasing operations in jurisdictions 
outside of Canada, resulting in a higher effective income 
tax rate in 2010 compared to 2009. The 2010 current 

income tax recovery results from applying 2010 tax losses 
in certain subsidiaries against taxable income in prior years; 
this recovery is offset by higher future tax expenses. The 
Company’s operations are complex and computation of 
the provision for income taxes involves tax interpretations, 
regulations and legislation that are continually changing. 
There are matters that have not yet been confirmed by 
taxation authorities; however, management believes the 
provision for income taxes is adequate.

QUARTERLY RESULTS
In addition to other market factors, quarterly results  
of Savanna are markedly affected by weather patterns 
throughout its operating areas in Canada, which  
still constitute the majority of Savanna’s operations. 
Historically, the first quarter of the calendar year is very 
active, followed by a much slower second quarter. As a 
result of this, the variation in activity levels on a quarterly 
basis, particularly in the first and second quarters, can  
be dramatic year-over-year independent of other demand 
factors. As the Company continues to expand outside  
of Canada, the relative impact of Canadian seasonality  
will be reduced. The following is a summary of selected 
financial information of the Company for the last eight 
completed quarters.

Summary of Quarterly Results
  Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 dec. 31 sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
three Months ended  2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009

(stated in thousands of dollars, 
except per share amounts) $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

revenue  135,678  104,787  67,862  130,069  85,430  50,350  27,045  93,794 
operating expenses 98,485  80,516  57,672  94,732  61,611  40,208  26,627   70,561 
operating margin(1) 37,193   24,271   10,190  35,337   23,819   10,142   418  23,233 
operating margin %(1) 27% 23% 15% 27% 28% 20% 2% 25%
impairment loss – – – – (27,370) – – –
 per share: basic – – – – (0.35) – – –
 per share: diluted – – – – (0.35) – – –
net earnings (loss) 5,247   1,211   (7,742) 9,597  (18,055)  (4,548)  (8,899) 3,609 
 per share: basic 0.07  0.02  (0.10)  0.12  (0.23) (0.06) (0.14) 0.06 
 per share: diluted 0.07  0.02  (0.10)  0.12  (0.23) (0.06) (0.14) 0.06 
total assets 1,052,368   1,019,149  996,765   1,020,981  977,159  983,783  974,192   1,019,841 
long-term debt 112,802 93,601 84,696 98,386 70,107 57,263 50,872 176,501
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Summary of Quarterly Results – Contract Drilling
  Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 dec. 31 sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
three Months ended  2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009

(stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per day)

revenue $ 107,633  $  81,969  $  52,008  $ 107,464  $  68,478  $  38,172  $ 17,943  $ 74,584 
operating expenses $  77,305  $ 64,511  $  44,842  $  78,887  $  50,316  $ 31,719  $ 18,708  $ 56,237 
operating margin(1) $  30,328  $ 17,458  $ 7,166  $  28,577  $ 18,162  $ 6,453  $ (765) $ 18,347 
operating margin %(1) 28% 21% 14% 27% 27% 17% (4%) 25%
operating days*  5,313  4,674  2,869  5,517  3,704  2,245   974  3,414 
revenue per operating day $  20,258  $  17,537  $ 18,128  $ 19,479  $ 18,488  $ 17,003  $  18,422 $ 21,847 
spud to release days*†  4,676  4,047  2,471  4,724  3,096  1,974   896  2,857 
Wells drilled† 852   578   186   808   502   306  116   864 
total meters drilled†  1,115,888  862,711  471,695  945,983  721,824  468,602  202,671  795,177 
utilization† 
 Canada 47% 39% 17% 54% 31% 19% 5% 31%
 international 79% 72% 66% 63% 56% 41% 37% 54%
 Canadian industry average± 49% 40% 20% 52% 31% 21% 11% 36%

* the number of operating days and number of spud to release days are all on a net basis which means only savanna’s proportionate share of any 
rigs held in 50/50 limited partnerships have been included. 

† savanna reports its rig utilization based on spud to release time for the rigs and excludes moving, rig up and tear down time, even though revenue 
may be earned during this time. savanna’s rig utilization, spud to release days, wells drilled and total meters drilled exclude coring rigs as the 
operating environment is not comparable to the Company’s other drilling rigs, nor to industry utilization drivers. However, these rigs are included 
in total fleet numbers.

± source of industry figures: Canadian association of oilwell drilling Contractors (“CaodC”).

Summary of Quarterly Results – Oilfield Services
  Dec. 31 Sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31 dec. 31 sep. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
three Months ended  2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009

(stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per hour)

revenue $ 28,231  $  23,283  $  16,104  $  23,741  $  17,447  $  12,887  $ 9,369  $  19,848 
operating expenses $ 21,531  $  16,639  $  13,227  $  17,120  $  11,928  $ 9,338  $ 8,329  $  15,102 
operating margin(1) $ 6,700  $ 6,644  $ 2,877  $ 6,621  $ 5,519  $ 3,549  $ 1,040  $ 4,746 
operating margin %(1) 24% 29% 18% 28% 32% 28% 11% 24%
operating hours*  34,354  29,650  21,992  30,278  24,011  17,345  11,470  22,981 
revenue per hour $ 687  $  654  $  624  $  640  $  629  $  622  $  639  $  721 
utilization – Canada† 56% 47% 33% 49% 37% 26% 15% 37%
utilization – international† 70% 75% 69% 60% 59% 58% 58% 53%

* the number of operating hours is on a net basis which means only savanna’s proportionate share of any rigs held in 50/50 limited partnerships 
has been included. 

† utilization is based on standard hours of 3,650 per rig per year. the utilization rate excludes the coiled tubing service units since these units are not 
comparable in size or operations to the division’s service rigs. reliable industry average utilization figures, specific to well servicing, are not available.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
The market risks outlined under “Market Trends” and 
under “Risks and Uncertainties” in this MD&A can 
significantly affect the financial condition and liquidity of 
the Company. Savanna’s ability to access its debt facilities 
is directly dependent on, among other factors, its total 
debt to equity ratios and trailing cash flows. Additionally, 
the ability of Savanna to raise capital through the issuance 
of equity could be restricted in the face of continuing 
volatility in worldwide capital markets or in the energy 
related capital markets specifically. 

Savanna’s primary objective in managing capital, given the 
cyclical nature of the oil and gas services business, is to 
preserve the Company’s financial flexibility in order to 

The Company’s operating cash flows are closely related  
to its operating margins and general and administrative 
expenses; consequently, the increases in operating cash 
flows for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2010, 
are directly related to the increases in operating margins 

The increase in working capital at December 31, 2010 
compared to December 2009 is primarily a result of an 
increase in accounts receivable due to improved activity 
levels year over year. The increase in accounts receivable 
is somewhat offset by an increase in the amount drawn on 

benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and in 
turn maximize returns for Savanna shareholders. This 
objective is achieved by: prudently managing the capital 
generated through internal growth; optimizing the use of 
lower cost capital; raising share capital when required to 
fund growth initiatives; and maintaining a conservative 
approach to safeguarding the Company’s assets.

Although Savanna cannot anticipate all eventualities in 
this regard, the Company maintains what it believes to be 
a conservatively leveraged balance sheet and makes every 
effort to ensure a balance in maximizing returns for its 
shareholders over both short-term and long-term activity 
levels in the oil and gas services business. 

less general and administrative expenses in the same 
respective periods. Therefore, increased activity levels led 
to an increase in operating cash flows for the quarter and 
year ended December 31, 2010, compared to the same 
periods in 2009.

the Company’s swing-line operating facility and an 
increase in accounts payable due to both activity levels 
and Savanna’s continuing capital program. Savanna’s net 
debt(1) position at December 31, 2010, was $33.9 million 
(2009 – $19.1 million).

Working Capital and Cash Provided by Operations 
  three Months ended twelve Months ended
december 31 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

(stated in thousands of dollars) $ $  $ $

operating cash flows(1) 34,810  24,157  44% 81,961  41,072  100%
 per diluted share 0.44  0.31  42% 1.04  0.58  79%
Change in cash, net of bank indebtedness (3,772)  95  ∆ (2,626)  (10,341) ∆

∆ Calculation not meaningful

at december 31 2010 2009 Change

(stated in thousands of dollars) $ $

Working capital held outside of partnerships 77,626   50,987  26,639 
Working capital held in partnerships* 1,247  29   1,218 

Working capital(1) 78,873  51,016  27,857 

* Working capital held in limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company. the amount presented is the Company’s proportionate share.
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The property and equipment purchases for the quarter and 
year ended December 31, 2010, are primarily associated 
with expenditures under the Company’s 2010 capital 
program as described under “Equipment Fleet” in this 
MD&A. The amounts expended included the construction 
of two service rigs for Australia, the retrofit of two hybrid 
drilling rigs for Australia, the retrofit of two hybrid drilling 
rigs as TDS-3000TM rigs, the retrofit of two conventional 
double drilling rigs for the United States, the retrofit of one 
service rig for the United States, the purchase of four new 
portable top drives and expansion of the rental fleet. 

At the date of this report, the number of common shares 
outstanding was 79.1 million and the number of stock 
options outstanding was 4.7 million, the proceeds from 
which, if exercised, would be $49.1 million.

Savanna had long-term debt outstanding of $102.0 million 
at December 31, 2010 (2009 – $62.6 million), excluding 
the $10.8 million (2009 – $7.5 million) current portion 
thereof. Collection of accounts and taxes receivable were 
used to pay down the Company’s debt facilities in Q2 
2010. The funds drawn in Q1, Q3 and Q4 2010 were 
primarily used to fund working capital and the capital 
expenditures discussed above under the heading 
“Investing Activities”. 

The 2010 property and equipment purchases also include 
deposits on long-lead items and initial capital costs incurred 
on a third service rig for Australia, the retrofit of two 
additional hybrid drilling rigs for Australia, the first two 
TDS-3000TM conversions planned for 2011, two new 
deep double drilling rigs and a new flush-by service rig.

The purchase of other assets relate entirely to rig 
re-certification costs incurred in the quarter and year 
ended December 31, 2010, which are classified on the 
balance sheet as other assets. Rig re-certification costs 
were also included in the Company’s 2010 capital program 
as described under “Equipment Fleet” in this MD&A and 
also form part of the total expected to be expended on the 
2011 capital program.

At December 31, 2010, $13.7 million was drawn on the 
Company’s swing-line operating facility and at the date  
of this report $12.1 million was drawn on the swing-line. 
At the date of this report, $128.9 million was drawn on  
the Company’s committed term revolving credit facility.

In March 2010 the Company declared and paid $2.0 million 
in dividends. Subsequent to the March 2010 distribution 
Savanna suspended paying dividends on its common 
shares to free up cash flow to enable the Company to 
pursue its strategic opportunities, particularly focused  
on the retrofit of its hybrid drilling rig fleet. The 
annualized cash redirected due to this decision will  
be approximately $8.0 million.

Investing Activities 
  three Months ended twelve Months ended
december 31 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

(stated in thousands of dollars) $ $  $ $

purchase of property and equipment  (28,098)  (8,328) 237% (100,764) (64,471) 56%
purchase of other assets  (855) (487) 76% (3,843)  (1,753) 119%

   (28,953)  (8,815) 228% (104,607) (66,224) 58%

Financing Activities 
  three Months ended twelve Months ended
december 31 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

(stated in thousands of dollars) $ $  $ $

shares issued, net of share issue costs 9  –  100%  9  120,031  (100%)
issuance of long-term debt  20,000   15,000  33% 60,000   25,000  140%
repayment of long-term debt (536) (577) (7%)  (17,039)  (146,982) (88%)
dividends paid –   (1,977) (100%) (1,977)  (6,902) (71%)
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Contractual Obligations
In the normal course of business, the Company incurs 
contractual obligations, primarily related to short-term 
and long-term indebtedness and operating leases. Capital 
commitments relating to equipment purchases, asset 

For 2011 and the foreseeable future, the Company expects 
cash flow from operations, working capital and from its 
various sources of financing to be sufficient to meet its 
debt repayments and future obligations, and to fund 
anticipated capital expenditures. The Company also 
expects to renew its term revolving credit facility in 2011.

CONTINGENCIES
The Company was subject to legal claims at December 31, 
2010. Although the outcome of these matters is not 
determinable at this time, the Company believes the 
claims will not have any material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial position or operating results.

Subsequent to the end of the year, two of Savanna’s service 
rigs located in Australia suffered extensive flooding 
damage. Savanna does not expect to incur any losses 
related to this claim in 2011 as the Company expects 
to be fully reimbursed for all of the repair and related 
costs through its insurance program and the required 
deductible was accrued in 2010. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the three and twelve month periods ended 
December 31, 2010:

Lease revenue, management fees and other fees in the 
amount of $0.49 million (2009 – $0.57 million), net  
of inter-company eliminations, were earned from 
partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company 
bringing the total earned for the year ended December 31, 
2010 to $2.25 million (2009 – $1.58 million). Lease amounts 
have been recorded as revenue and management and 

construction, maintenance capital, and rig re-certifications 
are estimated based on capital budgets. Actual expenditures 
are recorded as capital asset additions at the time of 
payment and could differ from these estimates. The 
expected maturities of the Company’s contractual and 
constructive obligations, including interest, are as follows:

other fees have been recorded as a reduction of either 
operating expenses or general and administrative expenses 
in the consolidated statement of earnings. 

Savanna incurred lease fees in the amount of $0.62 million 
(2009 – $0.28 million), net of inter-company eliminations, 
from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company 
bringing the total incurred for the year ended December 31, 
2010 to $1.98 million (2009 – $0.30 million). Lease  
fees have been recorded as operating expenses in the 
consolidated statement of earnings. 

Revenue in the amount of $1.03 million (2009 – $Nil) was 
earned from a customer that has a common director of  
the Company bringing the total earned for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 to $3.55 million (2009 – $0.04 million).

Savanna purchased $0.45 million in equipment from a 
partnership owned 50% by the Company; this related party 
transaction was not in the normal course of operations 
and was measured at the carrying amount of the assets.

Savanna advanced a total of $1.30 million in cash to  
two partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company  
in exchange for two promissory notes. Each of the notes 
bears interest at 7% and requires 48 equal monthly payments 
of $0.02 million. The advanced funds were used primarily 
to pay down current amounts owing by the partnerships 
to Savanna. During Q4 2010, the Company received  
$0.02 million in interest and $0.07 million was applied to 
the principal owing to Savanna bringing the total interest 
and principal received for the year ended December 31, 
2010 to $0.05 million and $0.17 million respectively. These 
related party transactions were not in the normal course 
of operations and were measured at the carrying amount 
of the assets which reflects agreed to exchange amounts.

  Jun. 30 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31
For the period ended  2011 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

(stated in thousands of dollars) $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness 15,429  – – – – 15,429 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,795  – – –  –  48,795 
long-term debt* 3,531   12,192  40,698  66,592  348  123,361 
operating leases  2,249   2,038   3,403  1,148  1,056  9,894 
Capital commitments 92,588 20,046 – – – 112,634

  162,592 34,276 44,101 67,740 1,404   310,113 

*  assumes the Company’s term revolving credit facility is not renewed in 2011. interest payments required on the term revolving credit facility are 
estimated based on an assumed static prime rate of interest of 3%.
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In 2008, the Company provided a $3.0 million home 
relocation loan to an officer who had relocated to another 
city on behalf of the Company. In June 2009, the officer 
paid $1.6 million on the loan. The remaining $1.4 million 
is included in accounts receivable and bears interest at 
prime, which was 3% at December 31, 2010. Effective 
November 30, 2010, the officer ceased employment with 
the Company; the terms of the loan have been extended 
to August 31, 2011. The loan receivable is secured by a 
first charge mortgage over various properties owned by 
the officer, the fair value of which is estimated to exceed 
the fair value of the loan. These related party transactions 
were not in the normal course of operations and were 
measured at the carrying amount of the assets.

Unless otherwise indicated, the above related party 
transactions were in the normal course of operations  
and were measured at the exchange amounts, which are 
the amounts of consideration established and agreed  
to by the related parties and which, in the opinion of 
management, are considered similar to those negotiable 
with third parties. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
This MD&A is based on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements requires that certain estimates and 
judgments be made with respect to the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses and the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on historical 
experience and management’s judgment. Anticipating 
future events involves uncertainty and consequently the 
estimates used by management in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements may change as future 
events unfold, additional experience is acquired or the 
Company’s operating environment changes. Management 
considers the following to be the most significant of  
these estimates:

Depreciation and Amortization
The accounting estimate that has the greatest effect on  
the Company’s financial results is the depreciation of 
capital assets and asset impairment write-downs, if any. 
Depreciation of capital assets is carried out on the basis of 
the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Equipment 
under construction is not depreciated until it is put into 
use. Included in capital assets is equipment acquired 
under capital leases. All equipment is depreciated  
based on the straight-line method, utilizing either years, 
operating days, in the case of drilling equipment, or 
operating hours, in the case of well servicing equipment. 
All equipment is depreciated net of expected residual 
values of 0% – 20%.

Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated useful  
lives of property and equipment requires judgment and  
is based on currently available information, including 
periodic depreciation studies conducted by the Company. 
Additionally, the Company canvasses its competitors to 
ensure it utilizes methodologies and rates consistent with 
the remainder of the sector in which Savanna operates. 
Changes in circumstances, such as technological 
advances, changes to the Company’s business strategy, 
changes in the Company’s capital strategy or changes in 
regulations may result in the actual useful lives differing 
from the Company’s estimates. 

A change in the remaining useful life of a group of assets, 
or their expected residual value, will affect the depreciation 
rate used to amortize the group of assets and thus affect 
depreciation expense as reported in the Company’s results 
of operations. These changes are reported prospectively 
when they occur. 

On a periodic basis management assesses the carrying 
value of its capital assets for indications of impairment. 
Indications of impairment include an ongoing lack of 
profitability and significant changes in technology. 
This requires Savanna to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to be generated by its capital assets based on 
assumptions of future industry operating conditions. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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Stock-Based Compensation
Compensation expense associated with stock options 
granted is based on various assumptions, using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, to produce an 
estimate of compensation. This estimate may vary due  
to changes in the variables used in the model including 
interest rates, expected life, expected volatility and  
share prices.

Stock-based compensation expense is also provided for 
deferred share units (“DSUs”) and performance share 
units (“PSUs”) held by directors and officers of the 
Company. The number of DSUs and PSUs expected to 
vest are measured at fair value at each reporting period  
on a mark-to-market basis; any changes in the fair value  
of DSUs or PSUs are recognized immediately in earnings. 
An estimate of the number of PSUs expected to vest based 
on performance and other vesting criteria is made each 
reporting period. The number of PSUs that actually vest 
could differ from those estimates and any changes are 
recognized prospectively when they occur as an increase 
or decrease in compensation expense.

Provision of Doubtful Accounts Receivable
The allowance for doubtful accounts and past due 
receivables are reviewed by management on a monthly 
basis. Accounts receivable are considered for impairment 
on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when 
objective evidence is received that a customer will default. 
The Company takes into consideration the customer’s 
payment history, their credit worthiness and the current 
economic environment in which the customer operates  
to assess impairment. The Company’s historical bad debt 
expenses have not been significant and are usually limited 
to specific customer circumstances. However, given the 
cyclical nature of the oil and natural gas industry along 
with the current economic operating environment, a 
customer’s ability to fulfill its payment obligations can 
change suddenly and without notice.

Income taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting 
for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax 
assets and liabilities are recorded based on temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or 
liability and its tax base. Future tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Future 
tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The 
carrying amount of future tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. The Company’s operations are complex and 
computation of the provision for income taxes involves 
tax interpretations, regulations and legislation that are 
continually changing. There are matters that have not 
yet been confirmed by taxation authorities; however, 
management believes the provision for income taxes  
is adequate.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies are the same as those 
set out in the Company’s annual audited consolidated 
financial statements. During the year, the Company 
adopted the following new accounting policies, neither of 
which had an effect on the Company’s financial position 
nor operating results:

Business Combinations
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company elected to early 
adopt the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(“CICA”) Handbook Section 1582, “Business 
Combinations”; under the new section, the term 
“business” is more broadly defined than in the existing 
standard, most assets acquired and liabilities assumed are 
measured at fair value, any interest in an acquiree owned 
prior to obtaining control is remeasured at fair value at 
the acquisition date (eliminating the need for guidance  
on step acquisitions), a bargain purchase results in 
recognition of a gain, and acquisition costs are expensed. 

Consolidation
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company elected to early 
adopt CICA Handbook Sections 1601, “Consolidations” 
and 1602 “Non-controlling Interests”. Section 1601 carries 
forward the requirements of Section 1600, “Consolidated 
Financial Statements”, other than those relating to 
non-controlling interests which would be covered in 
Section 1602. Under Section 1602, any non-controlling 
interest will be recognized as a separate component of 
shareholder’s equity and net income will be calculated 
without deducting non-controlling interest and instead 
net income is allocated between the controlling and 
non-controlling interests. 
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
The following are GAAP changes that have been issued by the CICA but are not yet effective: 

Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
The following are the key elements and timing of the Company’s IFRS changeover plan:

Key Activity Timing Current Status

  FINANCIAL REPORTING

identify differences in Canadian  Completed significant differences and accounting policy
Gaap and iFrs and affect on   choices identified; see below for a summary of the
current accounting policies  significant areas of change for savanna on conversion

determine which iFrs 1  Completed exemptions relevant to savanna identified; 
exemptions will be relied upon  see below for a summary of the significant 
  exemptions savanna intends to rely on

prepare accounting policies  Completed policies under iFrs completed
in accordance with iFrs  

Create financial statements  opening balance sheet substantially  opening balance sheet completed; 2010 comparatives
in accordance with iFrs completed; 2010 comparatives will be completed subsequent to 2010 year end close; 
 to be completed in Q1 2011 skeleton financial statements under iFrs
  prepared for use in preparing first iFrs financials

Quantify effects of adopting iFrs opening balance sheet adjustments opening balance sheet adjustments completed; 
 substantially completed; 2010 2010 adjustments will be completed subsequent
 adjustments to be completed to 2010 year end close
 in Q1 2011

  INFORMATION SYSTEMS

determine whether any  Completed no significant process changes identified
process changes required 

determine if software is iFrs  Completed a fixed asset register that integrates with the
compliant; identify any upgrades,   accounting system has been purchased and
changes or additions required  has been implemented

assess whether any changes  Completed implementation for certain changes planned, 
to the general ledger required  will be completed subsequent to 2010 year end
  close; module for the accounting system has been 
  purchased to facilitate any changes

assess ability to gather data  substantially completed;  required reports have been designed and tested, 
for ongoing disclosures will be updated for changes,  will be implemented for first iFrs financials 
 if required, in 2011 

prepare first time adoption  opening balance sheet adjustments opening balance sheet adjustments completed; 
reconciliations required substantially completed; 2010 2010 adjustments will be completed subsequent
for iFrs 1 adjustments to be completed to 2010 year end close
 in Q1 2011
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Key Activity Timing Current Status

  BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

assess affect on Completed  Changes did not have a significant effect
financial covenants  on covenants

assess affect on budgeting  Completed  Changes did not have a significant effect
and planning process 

assess affect on to be completed analysis underway, changes are not determinable 
compensation plans by Q2 2011 at this time

assess affect on customer  Completed  Changes did not have a significant effect
and supplier contracts  

assess needs for iFrs  Completed iFrs training delivered as required
related training 

  CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

determine whether any changes  Completed  Changes did not have a significant effect
required to internal controls over
over financial reporting for 
all accounting policy changes 

determine whether any changes  Completed  Changes did not have a significant effect
required to disclosure controls 
and procedures for all 
accounting policy changes
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Business combinations
This exemption allows the Company to not apply IFRS 3 
Business Combinations retrospectively to past business 
combinations. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities arising on business combinations occurring 
before the conversion date will not be changed.

Fair value or revaluation as deemed cost
This exemption allows the Company to use the fair value 
of a class of capital assets as the deemed cost of that asset 
on conversion. The Company will apply this exemption to 
a portion of its capital assets, including intangible assets, 
hybrid drilling rigs, surface/coring drilling rigs, coil tubing 
service units and spare equipment recorded in property 
and equipment; for the rest of Savanna’s capital assets 
historical costs will be used. No change is expected to  
the fair value of intangible assets, surface/coring drilling 
rigs and coil tubing service units as determined under 
GAAP at December 31, 2009. The carrying amounts  
of the Company’s hybrid drilling rigs and spare equipment 
are expected to be reduced by an aggregate of between 
$55 million and $65 million as of January 1, 2010, as a 
result of using the fair values of these assets as their 
deemed cost on the date of transition.

Share-based payments
This exemption allows the Company to apply the 
requirements in IFRS 2 Share-based Payments 
retrospectively for only unvested instruments outstanding 
at the date of transition. Accordingly, Savanna will only 
apply IFRS 2 to unvested options and outstanding DSU 
and PSU liabilities at January 1, 2010.

Componentization of property and equipment
Under GAAP depreciation of certain operating assets  
(i.e. drilling and well servicing rigs) was determined  
based on the total cost of those assets. Under IFRS each 
component of an item of property and equipment with  
a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost  
of the item is to be depreciated separately. Therefore  
the ranges of useful lives under which operating assets  
are depreciated have expanded and will result in an 
adjustment to the Company’s opening balance sheet under 
IFRS. These changes will also result in changes to the 
Company’s 2010 depreciation expense as reported under 
GAAP; however, the overall effect on annual deprecation 
expenses is not expected to be significant. 

The following are the optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions from full retrospective application of IFRS allowed  
for under IFRS 1 that the Company expects to apply on conversion to IFRS:

The following are the significant areas expected to change Savanna’s current accounting policies on conversion to IFRS: 

Borrowing costs
This exemption eliminates the requirement to 
retrospectively apply the capitalization of borrowing  
cost requirements for qualifying assets under IAS 23. 
Accordingly, borrowing costs prior to January 1, 2010,  
will remain expensed.

Cumulative translation differences
This exemption eliminates the requirement to 
retrospectively determine cumulative currency translation 
differences in accordance with IAS 21 from the date a 
subsidiary was formed and allows the cumulative 
translation balance to be reset to zero at transition. 
Accordingly, Savanna will elect to reset all cumulative 
translation balances to zero in opening retained earnings 
at January 1, 2010.

Estimates
This exemption clarifies that hindsight cannot be used to 
create or revise estimates. Estimates previously made by 
the Company under GAAP were not revised on transition 
to IFRS except where necessary to reflect any difference in 
accounting policies.

Rig-recertification costs, which are currently classified  
as other assets on the balance sheet, will be considered 
separate components within property and equipment 
under IFRS. As a result, the amortization of these  
assets will be reclassified from operating expenses to 
depreciation and amortization on conversion; the expense 
relating to the amortization of rig-recertification costs is 
$906 and $3,148, respectively, for the three and twelve 
month periods ended December 31, 2010. 
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Impairment of assets
Under GAAP an impairment loss is recognized when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds the total undiscounted 
cash flows expected from its use and eventual disposition. 
The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the 
excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. 
Impairment testing was generally performed based on 
operating segments. Under IFRS an impairment loss is 
recognized when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, where recoverable amount is 
defined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value-in-use. Under the value-in-use calculation the 
expected future cash flows of an asset are discounted to 
their net present value. Impairment testing is performed 
based on cash generating unit (“CGU”), which is defined 
as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates 
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Savanna’s 
CGUs are as follows: surface/coring drilling, hybrid 
drilling, conventional drilling, well servicing and oilfield 
rentals. As a result of the change in measurement 
methodology, the Company adjusted its opening balance 
sheet for impairment losses in its surface/coring drilling 
and hybrid drilling CGUs. Since these CGUs are smaller 
than the operating segments that the Company uses  
to test for impairment under GAAP, the potential for 
impairment adjustments will increase under IFRS  
relative to GAAP.

Stock-based compensation
There are no significant differences in how Savanna 
accounts for its stock options under GAAP and IFRS. 
Under GAAP, prior to January 1, 2010, forfeitures of 
awards were recognized as they occurred. Under IFRS  
an estimate is required of the number of awards expected 
to vest, which results in the use of an estimated forfeiture 
rate. The Company adjusted its opening balance sheet  
to reflect an estimated historical forfeiture rate of 10%. 
There are no differences with respect to stock-based 
compensation for the Company between GAAP and IFRS 
in 2010 as a forfeiture rate was used to estimate the fair 
value of 2010 grants, which was permissible under GAAP 
(see above for exemption from retrospective application  
of IFRS 2). Additionally, there are no differences in how 
the Company accounts for its DSUs and PSUs. 

Income taxes
Conceptually accounting for income taxes under IFRS 
follows the same basic principles as GAAP. Future taxes 
are called deferred taxes under IFRS, although the 
accounting is virtually the same as how future taxes are 
accounted for currently by Savanna. Based on changes to 
the opening balance sheet under IFRS, particularly in the 
carrying values of property and equipment, deferred taxes 
will need to be recalculated based on the changed carrying 
values. No changes to current income taxes are expected.

Joint ventures
Previously Savanna had made assessments regarding  
its jointly-controlled partnerships based on the current 
International Accounting Standards Board exposure  
draft on joint arrangements. Based on the changes 
contemplated in the current exposure draft the Company 
would no longer proportionately consolidate its jointly-
controlled partnerships and would instead account for 
these joint ventures as equity investments. The exposure 
draft has not yet become an IFRS. As a result, Savanna  
has decided to continue to proportionately consolidate  
its joint ventures on transition to IFRS as the Company 
believes this is the most accurate representation of the 
substance of the relationship with its joint ventures.  
When the exposure draft is finalized as an IFRS, Savanna 
will reassess how it accounts for joint ventures.
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Other
The following are areas for which there are minimal,  
if any, changes to Savanna’s current accounting policies  
or retrospective adjustments expected on conversion to 
IFRS: revenue recognition, cash and bank indebtedness, 
inventory, long-term debt, leases, share capital, 
contingencies, provisions, foreign currency translation 
and financial instruments. 

The Company has substantially completed its January 1, 
2010 opening balance sheet adjustments under IFRS and 
will continue to work with its auditors on finalizing these 
adjustments, including changes to the 2010 figures as 
reported under GAAP, prior to the release of its first IFRS 
financial statements for the period ending March 31, 2011. 
The most significant of these adjustments results from the 
application of the fair value as deemed cost exemption 
described above and the future tax effect thereof.  
Other adjustments to the opening balance sheet are  
not material and include: an adjustment pertaining to  
the componentization of property and equipment and  
the retrospective depreciation thereof; an adjustment 
pertaining to the retrospective calculation of stock-based 
compensation expense for unvested stock options at 
January 1, 2010 using a forfeiture rate; and an adjustment 
in the calculation of the future tax liability based on  
these changes.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company’s primary activity is the provision of 
contract drilling and oilfield services to the oil and gas 
industry in Canada, the United States and Australia. The 
demand, price and terms of contract drilling services are 
dependent on the level of activity in this industry, which 
in turn depends on several factors, including:
• Crude oil, natural gas and other commodity prices, 

markets and storage levels;
• Expected rates of production and production declines;
• Discovery of new oil and natural gas reserves;
• Availability of capital and financing;
• Exploration and production costs;
• Pipeline capacity and availability;
• Manufacturing capacity and availability of supplies  

for rig construction; and
• Government imposed royalties and taxes.

Other risk factors that affect the oil and gas industry  
and the Company are as follows:

Volatility of Industry Conditions 
The demand, pricing and terms for oilfield services largely 
depend upon the level of industry activity for Canadian 
natural gas and oil exploration and development. Industry 
conditions are influenced by numerous factors over which 
the Company has no control, including: the level of oil and 
gas prices; expectations about future oil and gas prices; 
the cost of exploring for, producing and delivering oil and 
gas; the expected rates of declining current production; 
the discovery rates of new oil and gas reserves; available 
pipeline and other oil and gas transportation capacity; 
weather conditions; political, regulatory and economic 
conditions; and the ability of oil and gas companies to  
raise equity capital or debt financing. 

The level of activity in the Canadian oil and gas 
exploration and production industry is volatile. No 
assurance can be given that expected trends in oil and  
gas production activities will continue or that demand  
for oilfield services will reflect the level of activity in  
the industry. Any prolonged substantial reduction in  
oil and natural gas prices would likely affect oil and gas 
production levels and therefore affect the demand for 
drilling and well servicing services to oil and gas 
customers. A material decline in oil or gas prices or 
Canadian industry activity could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. Any addition to or 
elimination or curtailment of government incentives could 
have a significant impact on the oilfield services industry 
in Canada. 

Seasonality 
In Canada, the level of activity in the oilfield services 
industry is influenced by seasonal weather patterns. The 
spring thaw makes the ground unstable and less capable  
of supporting heavy weights. Consequently, municipalities 
and transportation departments enforce road bans that 
restrict the movement of heavy equipment, thereby reducing 
drilling and well servicing activity levels. In addition, 
during excessively rainy periods, equipment moves  
may be delayed, thereby adversely affecting revenues. 
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There is greater demand for oilfield services provided by 
the Company in the winter season when the occurrence  
of freezing permits the movement and operation of heavy 
equipment. Activities tend to increase in the fall and  
peak in the winter months of November through March. 
However, if an unseasonably warm winter prevents 
sufficient freezing, the Company may not be able to access 
well sites and its operating results and financial condition 
may therefore be adversely affected. Volatility in the 
weather and temperature can therefore create 
unpredictability in activity and utilization rates, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. 

Reliance on Key Personnel 
The success of the Company is dependent upon its key 
personnel. Any loss of the services of such persons could 
have a material adverse effect on the business and operations 
of the Company. The ability of the Company to expand its 
services is dependent upon its ability to attract additional 
qualified employees. The ability to secure the services of 
additional personnel is constrained in times of strong 
industry activity. 

Workforce Availability
The Company’s ability to provide reliable and quality 
services is dependent on its ability to hire and retain a 
dedicated and quality pool of employees. The Aboriginal 
partnerships that the Company has formed have provided 
access to a large, capable workforce of Aboriginal 
employees. The Company strives to retain employees by 
providing a safe working environment, competitive wages 
and benefits, employee savings plans and an atmosphere 
in which all employees are treated equally regarding 
opportunities for advancement. The Company also 
operates an innovative drilling rig training program 
designed to provide inexperienced individuals with  
the skills required for entry into the drilling and well 
servicing industry. 

Competition 
The oilfield services industry is highly competitive and  
the Company competes with a substantial number of 
companies which have greater technical and financial 
resources. The Company’s ability to generate revenue and 
earnings depends primarily upon its ability to win bids in 
competitive bidding processes and to perform awarded 
projects within estimated times and costs. There can be 
no assurance that such competitors will not substantially 
increase the resources devoted to the development and 
marketing of products and services that compete with 
those of the Company or that new competitors will not 
enter the various markets in which the Company is active. 
In certain aspects of its business, the Company also 
competes with a number of small and medium-sized 
companies, which, like the Company, have certain 
competitive advantages such as low overhead costs and 
specialized regional strengths. Reduced levels of activity in 
the oil and natural gas industry can intensify competition 
and result in lower revenue to the Company. Variations  
in the exploration and development budgets of oil and 
natural gas companies which are directly affected by 
fluctuations in energy prices, the cyclical nature and 
competitiveness of the oil and natural gas industry and 
governmental regulation, will have an affect upon the 
Company’s ability to generate revenue and earnings. 

Environmental Liability 
The Company is subject to the operating risks inherent  
in the industry, including environmental damage. The 
Company has established programs to address compliance 
with current environmental standards and monitors its 
practices concerning the handling of environmentally 
hazardous materials. However, there can be no assurance 
that the Company’s procedures will prevent environmental 
damage occurring from spills of materials handled by the 
Company or that such damage has not already occurred. 
On occasion, substantial liabilities to third parties may be 
incurred. The Company may have the benefit of insurance 
maintained by it or the operator; however the Company 
may become liable for damages against which it cannot 
adequately insure or against which it may elect not to 
insure because of high costs or other reasons. 
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Operating Risk and Insurance 
The Company has an insurance and risk management 
program in place to protect its assets, operations and 
employees. The Company also has programs in place to 
address compliance with current safety and regulatory 
standards. However, the Company’s operations are subject 
to risks inherent in the oilfield services industry such as 
equipment defects, malfunction, failures and natural 
disasters. These risks could expose the Company to 
substantial liability for personal injury, loss of life, business 
interruption, property damage or destruction, pollution 
and other environmental damages. Although the Company 
has obtained insurance against certain of the risks to 
which it is exposed, such insurance is subject to coverage 
limits and no assurance can be given that such insurance 
will be adequate to cover the Company’s liabilities or will 
be generally available in the future or, if available, that 
premiums will be commercially justifiable. If the Company 
were to incur substantial liability and such damages were 
not covered by insurance or were in excess of policy 
limits, or if the Company were to incur such liability at a 
time when it is not able to obtain liability insurance, its 
business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows could be materially adversely effected. 

Vulnerability to Market Changes 
Fixed costs, including costs associated with operating 
expenses, leases, labour costs and depreciation will 
account for a significant portion of the Company’s costs 
and expenses. As a result, reduced productivity resulting 
from reduced demand, equipment failure, weather or 
other factors could have a material adverse effect on  
the Company’s business, financial condition, results  
of operations and cash flows. 

Potential Replacement or Reduced Use of 
Products and Services
Certain of the Company’s equipment may become 
obsolete or experience a decrease in demand through  
the introduction of competing products that are lower  
in cost, exhibit enhanced performance characteristics or 
are determined by the market to be more preferable for 
environmental or other reasons. The Company will need 
to keep current with the changing market for oil and gas 
services and technological and regulatory changes. If the 
Company fails to do so, this could have a material adverse 
affect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows.

Technology Risks 
The ability of the Company to meet customer demands  
in respect of performance and cost will depend upon 
continuous improvements in operating equipment. There 
can be no assurance that the Company will be successful 
in its efforts in this regard or that it will have the resources 
available to meet this continuing demand. Failure by the 
Company to do so could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. No assurances can be given 
that competitors will not achieve technological advantages 
over the Company. The Company relies on proprietary 
technology in respect of aspects of its oilfield services, 
particularly coiled tubing drilling. The Company has been 
granted patent protection in Canada and in the United 
States in respect of certain of such technology. No 
assurances can be given that the proprietary nature  
of the technology can be adequately protected. 

Dependence on Suppliers 
Failure of suppliers to deliver equipment in a timely and 
efficient manner would be detrimental to the Company’s 
ability to keep customers and to grow. In addition, certain 
equipment is manufactured specifically for the Company 
and the Company is dependent upon the continued 
availability of the manufacturer and the maintenance of 
the quality of manufacture. No assurances can be given 
that the Company will be successful in maintaining its 
required supply of equipment. 

Alternatives to and Changing Demand  
for Petroleum Products 
Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, 
increasing consumer demand for alternatives to oil and 
gas, and technological advances in fuel economy and 
energy generation devices could reduce the demand for 
crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbons. The Company 
cannot predict the impact of changing demand for oil and 
gas products, and any major changes could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Climate Change
Canada is a signatory to the United Nations Framework 
Convention on Climate Change and has ratified the Kyoto 
Protocol established there under to set legally binding 
targets to reduce nationwide emissions of carbon dioxide, 
methane, nitrous oxide and other so called “greenhouse 
gases”. There has been much public debate with respect  
to Canada’s ability to meet these targets and the 
Government’s strategy or alternative strategies with 
respect to climate change and the control of greenhouse 
gases. The Company’s Canadian exploration and 
production customers’ facilities and other operations  
and activities emit greenhouse gases and require them  
to comply with greenhouse gas emissions legislation 
contained in Alberta and British Columbia or that  
may be enacted in other provinces. The Company  
and its customers may also be required comply with  
the regulatory scheme for greenhouse gas emissions 
ultimately adopted by the federal government, which  
is now expected to be modified to ensure consistency  
with the regulatory scheme for greenhouse gas emissions 
adopted by the United States. The direct or indirect costs 
of these regulations may have a material adverse effect  
on the Company’s business, financial condition, results  
of operations and cash flows. The future implementation 
or modification of greenhouse gases regulations, whether 
to meet the limits required by the Kyoto Protocol, the 
Copenhagen Accord or as otherwise determined, could 
have a material impact on the nature of oil and natural  
gas operations of the Company’s customers. Given the 
evolving nature of the debate related to climate change 
and the control of greenhouse gases and resulting 
requirements, it is not possible to predict the impact on 
the Company and its operations and financial condition.

Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits  
of Acquisitions and Dispositions 
The Company makes acquisitions and dispositions of 
businesses and assets in the ordinary course of business. 
Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part  
on successfully consolidating functions and integrating 
operations and procedures in a timely and efficient 
manner as well as the Company’s ability to realize the 
anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from 

combining the acquired businesses and operations  
with those of the Company. The integration of acquired 
business may require substantial management effort, time 
and resources and may divert management’s focus from 
other strategic opportunities and operational matters. 
Management continually assesses the value and contribution 
of services provided and assets required to provide such 
services. In this regard, non core assets are periodically 
disposed of, so that the Company can focus its efforts and 
resources more efficiently. Depending on the state of the 
market for such non core assets, certain non core assets of 
the Company, if disposed of, could be expected to realize 
less than their carrying value on the financial statements 
of the Company. 

Access to Additional Financing 
The Company may find it necessary in the future to obtain 
additional debt or equity to support ongoing operations, 
to undertake capital expenditures or to undertake 
acquisitions or other business combination transactions. 
There can be no assurance that additional financing will 
be available to the Company when needed or on terms 
acceptable to the Company. The Company’s inability  
to raise financing to support ongoing operations or to 
fund capital expenditures or acquisitions could limit the 
Company’s growth and could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

Global Economic Uncertainty 
Recent market events and conditions, including disruptions 
in the international credit markets and other financial 
systems, political unrest in the Middle East and the overall 
uncertainty surrounding global economic conditions,  
have caused significant volatility to commodity prices. 
Although economic conditions improved towards the 
latter portion of 2009 and in 2010, as anticipated, the 
recovery from the recession has been slow in various 
jurisdictions including in Europe and the United States 
and has been impacted by various ongoing factors 
including sovereign debt levels, political unrest and  
high levels of unemployment which continue to impact 
commodity prices and to result in high volatility in  
the stock market.  
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Dividends
Although the Company has in the past paid a quarterly 
dividend on its outstanding shares, the Company ceased 
paying quarterly dividends after the first quarter of 2010.  
There can be no assurance that the Company will pay any 
dividends on its shares in the future. Payment of dividends 
in the future, if any, will be dependent on, among other 
things, the cash flow, results of operations and financial 
condition of the Company, the need for funds to finance 
ongoing operations and other considerations as the board 
of directors of the Company considers relevant.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations 
as revenues, expenses and working capital derived from  
its foreign operations are denominated in U.S. dollars, 
Australia dollars and Mexican pesos. In addition, the 
Company’s U.S., Australian and Mexican subsidiaries are 
subject to translation gains and losses on consolidation. 
Realized foreign exchange gains and losses are included  
in net earnings while foreign exchange gains and losses 
arising on the translation of the assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses of the Company’s foreign operations are 
included in OCI. 

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on a portion 
of its notes receivable and long-term debt and does not 
currently hold any financial instruments that mitigate  
this risk. The Company’s floating-rate notes receivable are 
subject to interest rate cash flow risk, as the cash received 
will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. The 
Company’s fixed-rate notes receivable and fixed-rate debt 
are subject to interest rate price risk, as the values will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. 
Floating-rate debt is subject to interest rate cash flow risk, 
as the required cash flows to service the debt will fluctuate 
with changes in market interest rates. The remainder of 
the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not 
exposed to interest rate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial 
institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers and 
partners in the form of outstanding accounts and notes 
receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal 
to the carrying value of the financial assets. 

As stated above, the carrying amount of accounts 
receivable reflects management’s assessment of the credit 
risk associated with its customers. The Company generally 
grants unsecured credit to its customers; however, the 
Company applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all 
new customers and analyzes and reviews the financial 
health of its current customers on an ongoing basis. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables 
are reviewed by management on a monthly basis. 
Accounts receivable are considered for impairment  
on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when 
objective evidence is received that a customer will default. 
The Company takes into consideration the customer’s 
payment history, their credit worthiness and the current 
economic environment in which the customer operates to 
assess impairment. The Company accounts for a specific 
bad debt provision when management considers that  
the expected recovery is less than the actual amount 
receivable. When a receivable balance is considered 
uncollectible it is written off against the allowance for 
doubtful accounts. Subsequent recovery of amounts 
previously written off is included in net earnings. 

Based on the nature of its operations, Savanna will always 
have a concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion 
of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers 
in the oil and gas industry and are subject to normal 
industry credit risks. 
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations as they become due or can 
do so only at excessive cost. The Company maintains what 
it believes to be a conservatively leveraged balance sheet 
and can finance any future growth through one of or a 
combination of internally generated cash flows, borrowing 
under existing credit facilities, the issuance of debt or the 
issuance of equity, according to its capital management 
objectives. Given the Company’s currently available  
liquid resources as compared to its contractual 
obligations, management assesses the Company’s  
liquidity risk to be low.

Adoption of International Financial  
Reporting Standards
The requirement for the Company to implement IFRS  
to replace GAAP effective January 1, 2011 may materially 
affect the Company’s financial results as reported in its 
financial statements. The Company is in the process of 
transitioning to IFRS and has completed its assessment  
of the differences between GAAP and IFRS relevant to  
the Company. At this time the Company is still in the 
process of finalizing the quantification of the impact  
IFRS will have on its financial statements. Further, the 
quantification of the impact of IFRS is ongoing and any 
amounts stated by the Company are subject to audit or 
review and subject to change.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial 
Officer (“CFO”) have designed or caused to be designed 
under their supervision, disclosure controls and 
procedures (“DC&P”) to provide reasonable assurance 
that: (i) material information relating to the Company, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known  
to the CEO and the CFO by others within those entities, 
particularly during the periods in which the annual and 
interim filings of the Company are being prepared; and  
(ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company 
in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed 
or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time period 
specified in securities legislation. As of December 31, 

2010, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s 
DC&P was conducted by and under the supervision of the 
Company’s management including the CEO and the CFO. 
Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have 
concluded that the Company’s DC&P are effective at 
December 31, 2010 and provide reasonable assurance that 
material information relating to the Company, including 
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the CEO 
and the CFO by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which the annual and interim filings 
of the Company are being prepared.

The CEO and CFO do not expect that the DC&P will 
prevent or detect all errors, misstatements and fraud but 
are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving 
their objectives. A control system, no matter how well 
designed or operated, can only provide reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 
system are met.

In addition to DC&P, the CEO and CFO have designed 
internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), or 
caused them to be designed under their supervision,  
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. 
The design and effectiveness of these controls have been 
evaluated by and under the supervision of the Company’s 
management, including the CEO and the CFO, using the 
framework and criteria established in the Internal Control 
– Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded 
that the Company’s ICFR as of December 31, 2010 are 
effective and provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with GAAP.

The Company’s ICFR may not prevent or detect all errors, 
misstatements and fraud. The design of internal controls 
must take into account cost-benefit constraints. A control 
system, no matter how well designed or operated, can  
only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the 
objectives of the control system are met. While the Company 
is continually enhancing its ICFR, no material changes 
were made during the year ended December 31, 2010,  
that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect the Company’s ICFR.
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OUTLOOK
Both the CAODC and the Petroleum Services Association 
of Canada anticipate stronger drilling activity in Canada 
in 2011 compared to 2010. With 84% of its well servicing 
fleet and 77% of its drilling fleet located in Canada, Savanna 
expects to benefit from any such increased activity. 

Despite weather and flood delays in Q4 2010 and Q1 
2011, Savanna anticipates having its Australian operations 
running at their intended capacity by the second half 
of 2011. The required infrastructure to support this 
operation is in place and Savanna expects to have the two 
service rigs repaired and the first two hybrid drilling rigs 
commissioned to start work once field conditions improve 
enough to allow for operations to recommence. By Q3 
2011 the third service rig and the next two drilling rigs 
should also be ready to initiate operations in Australia. 
Savanna continues to pursue long-term customer 
commitments for additional drilling and well servicing 
equipment in Australia, both through existing and 
pending tenders, as well as directly to customers 

With the deployment of four hybrid drilling rigs to 
Australia and the committed conversion of eight hybrid 
rigs to TDS-3000TM conventional singles, Savanna’s 
strategic intent of reducing its domestic shallow drilling 
fleet exposure remains on track. The first two TDS-3000TM 
rigs have shown good results and with four of the next  
six already contracted and significant customer interest in 
the remaining two TDS-3000TM rigs, Savanna expects this 
strategy to begin paying off materially in 2011. In addition, 
the Company has identified several other prospective 
international areas attractive for the hybrid and is 
continuing to work towards improving the application 
and utilization of the hybrid fleet domestically through 
improved directional and horizontal capabilities for the 
rigs and increased application of the rigs to shallow oil 
drilling, specifically heavy oil areas.

While revitalization of the hybrid fleet is a priority, 
expansion of its deeper conventional fleet also remains 
a core growth driver for Savanna going forward. With 
the construction of two high specification conventional 
drilling rigs and the conversion of eight of its hybrid rigs 
to deeper-oriented conventional rigs either completed 
or under way, Savanna is committed to increasing the 
number of drilling rigs capable of drilling to depths greater 
than 3,000 meters.

Ultimately, despite much higher than historical oil-driven 
drilling demand, the level of activity in both Canada and the 
United States will not fully recover until a supply-demand 
balance for natural gas is achieved, and prices for the 
commodity recover. In the interim, Savanna will continue 
to monitor its cost structure and focus on best positioning 
itself to take advantage of the operating environment. 

Savanna’s vision is “Defining leadership in global energy 
services through people, innovation and technology –  
The path for others to follow.” Defining leadership within 
an industry involves a commitment to re-examining 
strategies and practices regardless of success levels. As  
a service provider, anticipating future customer needs 
becomes equally important as meeting existing ones. 
Savanna is committed to the advancement of energy 
services for the benefit of all stakeholders – its 
shareholders; its employees; its customers; and the 
communities in which they live. Savanna’s key initiatives 
over the next few years are as follows:
• retrofit no less than twelve hybrid drilling rigs, subject 

to economics;
• execute and expand Australia by a minimum of two 

drilling and two service rigs, subject to contract;
• continue to nurture international opportunities;
• establish technical services function to support 

technology development and cost effective construction 
and purchasing;

• execute on the strategy to grow the rental division 
domestically and internationally;

• improve staff development, training and safety 
execution; and

• maximize operational efficiencies.

Savanna believes it has the high quality people, 
equipment, leading-edge technology and First Nations 
partnerships to execute on its strategy as a leader in the 
oilfield services industry. 
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NOTES: 

(1) operating margin, operating margin percent, operating cash flows, 
capital assets, working capital, eBitdas, debt-to-equity ratio, and 
net debt are not recognized measures under Gaap, and are unlikely 
to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies. Management believes that, in addition to net earnings, 
the measures described above are useful as they provide an 
indication of the results generated by the Company’s principal 
business activities prior to consideration of how those activities  
are financed and how the results are taxed in various jurisdictions. 

• operating margin is defined as revenue less operating expenses. 

• operating margin percent is defined as revenue less operating 
expenses divided by revenue.

• operating cash flows are defined as cash flows from operations 
less changes in non-cash working capital. 

• Capital assets are defined as property and equipment, 
intangibles, and other assets.

• Working capital is defined as total current assets less  
total current liabilities excluding the current portions of 
long-term debt. 

• eBitdas is defined as earnings before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation.

• debt-to-equity ratio is defined as long-term debt, including  
the current portions thereof, divided by shareholders’ equity.

• net debt is defined as long-term debt, including the current 
portions thereof, less working capital as defined above.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING 
INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Md&a, including statements 
related to the Company’s 2011 capital expenditures, international and 
other long-term growth opportunities, the conversion of hybrid drilling 
rigs to tds-3000tM rigs and the future returns generated there from, the 
timing of rig deployment and commencement or recommencement of 
operations in australia, the reimbursement through insurance of 
restoration and repair costs of rigs damaged by flooding in australia, 
increased industry activity in Canada in 2011, ultimate recovery of rig 
repositioning costs, outlook for future oil and gas demand and prices, 
cyclical industry fundamentals, drilling and completion activity levels, 
the Company’s ability to meet debt repayments and fund future 
obligations and capital expenditures, the Company’s ability to renew  
its term revolving credit facility, the Company’s iFrs changeover plan 
and statements that contain words such as “could”, “should”, “can”, 
“anticipate”, “expect”, “believe”, “will”, “may”, “likely”, “estimate”, 
“predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “maintain”, “retain”, “grow”, and 
similar expressions and statements relating to matters that are not 
historical facts constitute “forward-looking information” within the 
meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the united states private 
securities litigation reform act of 1995.

these statements are based on certain assumptions and analysis made 
by the Company in light of its experience and its perception of historical 
trends, current conditions and expected future developments as well  
as other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. in 
particular, the Company’s expectations of increased industry activity  
in Canada in 2011, the ultimate recovery of rig repositioning costs 
incurred in 2010, and the conversion of hybrid drilling rigs to tds-3000tM 
rigs along with the future returns generated there from are premised  
on the Company’s expectations for its customers’ capital budgets  
and geographical areas of focus, the status of current negotiations  
with its customers, the focus of its customers on oil directed drilling 
opportunities in the current natural gas pricing environment in north 
america and the effect unconventional gas projects have had on supply 
and demand fundamentals for natural gas. similarly, the Company’s 
expectation of increased activity levels and growth opportunities in 
australia is premised on the current level of tender activity in the 
australian market which in turn is based on the general expectation  
that coal seam gas activity will increase in that country as plans for 
liquid natural gas plants move forward. the Company’s expectation  

of the timing for the recommencement of operations in australia is 
premised on rig repair activity undertaken to date and expectations of  
its customer’s timing on having field locations available for work. the 
Company’s expectation of being fully reimbursed for the restoration and 
repair costs of the two rigs damaged by flooding in australia is premised 
on the Company’s understanding of its insurance policy coverage and  
its current estimate for the total cost of the repairs. the Company’s 
expectation of funding future obligations and capital expenditures is 
premised on its expectation of renewing its revolving debt facility in 
2011, realizing its working capital and generating cash flows at current 
levels or better which in turn is premised on the pricing of the 
Company’s services remaining at or improving from present levels  
while maintaining its current cost structure. Whether actual results, 
performance or achievements will conform to the Company’s 
expectations and predictions is subject to a number of known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results  
to differ materially from the Company’s expectations. such risks and 
uncertainties include, but are not limited to: fluctuations in the price  
and demand for oil and natural gas; fluctuations in the level of oil and 
natural gas exploration and development activities; fluctuations in the 
demand for well servicing and contract drilling; the effects of weather 
conditions on operations and facilities; the existence of competitive 
operating risks inherent in well servicing and contract drilling;  
general economic, market or business conditions; changes in laws or 
regulations, including taxation, environmental and currency regulations; 
the lack of availability of qualified personnel or management; the other 
risk factors set forth under the heading “risks and uncertainties” in this 
Md&a and under the heading “risk Factors” in the Company’s annual 
information Form and other unforeseen conditions which could impact 
on the use of services supplied by the Company.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking information and statements 
made in this Md&a are qualified by this cautionary statement and  
there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments 
anticipated by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially 
realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects on 
the Company or its business or operations. except as may be required  
by law, the Company assumes no obligation to update publicly any such 
forward-looking information and statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events, or otherwise.
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Management’s Responsibility  

for Financial Information

To assist management in the discharge of these 
responsibilities, the Company maintains a system of 
internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that accounting records are reliable, transactions are 
properly authorized and assets are safeguarded from loss 
or unauthorized use.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of 
Directors, with all of its members being independent 
directors. The Audit Committee meets with management, 
as well as with the external auditors, to satisfy itself 
that management is properly discharging its financial 
reporting responsibilities and to review the consolidated 

the accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the 

annual report have been prepared by management and approved by the Board of 

directors of savanna. the consolidated financial statements have been prepared  

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada and,  

where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates and judgments. 

Management is responsible for the accuracy, integrity and objectivity of the 

consolidated financial statements within reasonable limits of materiality and for  

the consistency of financial data included in the text of the annual report with  

that in the consolidated financial statements.

financial statements and the auditors report. The 
Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of 
Directors for consideration in approving the consolidated 
financial statements for presentation to the shareholders. 
The external auditors have direct access to the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited 
independently by Deloitte & Touche LLP on behalf of  
the Company in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards. Their report outlines the nature 
of their audits and expresses their opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements.

Ken Mullen Darcy Draudson
President and Chief  Vice President Finance
Executive Officer  and Chief Financial Officer

Calgary, Alberta  Calgary, Alberta
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i n d e p e n d e n t  a u d i t o r ’ s  r e p o r t

To the Shareholders of Savanna Energy  
Services Corp.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Savanna Energy Services Corp., which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 
31, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of 
net earnings (loss), deficit, comprehensive income (loss), 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in 
our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Savanna Energy Services Corp. as at December 31, 
2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Chartered Accountants
March 10, 2011

Calgary, Alberta
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For the years ended december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) $   $ 

REVENUE 
 sales and services 438,396  256,619 

EXPENSES 
 operating 331,405  199,007 
 General and administrative  31,563   20,517 
 stock-based compensation (note 14(g))  4,952   4,450 
 depreciation and amortization 49,662   35,814 
 interest on long-term debt   6,070  5,119 
 other (note 18) 2,865   433 
 impairment loss (notes 7 and 8(a)) – 27,370 

  426,517  292,710 

EARNINGS (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES  11,879  (36,091)

INCOME TAXES (note 11(a)) 
 Current  (9,223)  (7,034)
 Future  12,789   (1,164)

   3,566   (8,198)

NET EARNINGS (LOSS)  8,313  (27,893)

NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (note 14(h)) 
 Basic – net earnings (loss) 0.11  (0.40)
 diluted – net earnings (loss) 0.11  (0.40)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT 
For the years ended december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars) $   $

deficit, beginning of year  (153,755)  (118,960)
dividends declared  (1,977) (6,902)
net earnings (loss)  8,313  (27,893)

deficit, end of year  (147,419)  (153,755)

Consolidated Statements  

of Net Earnings (loss)

the accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars) $   $

ASSETS 
Current 
 Cash  6,055   4,480 
 accounts receivable (note 20(c))  117,213   78,409 
 income taxes receivable  9,896   9,065 
 inventory (note 4)  3,713   4,195 
 prepaid expenses and deposits  2,554   1,969 
 assets held for sale (note 5)  3,666   – 

   143,097   98,118 
notes receivable (note 6)  10,984   9,630 
property and equipment (note 7)  891,528   862,251 
intangibles and other assets (note 8)  6,759   7,160 

   1,052,368   977,159 

LIABILITIES 
Current 
 Bank indebtedness (note 9)  15,429   11,228 
 accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,795   35,874 
 Current portion of long-term debt (note 10)  10,761   7,512 

   74,985   54,614 
deferred net revenue (note 6)  1,647   1,647 
long-term debt (note 10)  102,041   62,595 
Future income taxes (note 11(b))  90,388   77,287 

   269,061   196,143 

Commitments and contingencies (notes 12 and 13) 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
share capital (note 14(b))  911,776   911,764 
Contributed surplus (note 14(c))  23,712   20,135 
deficit  (147,419)  (153,755)

   788,069   778,144 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (4,762)  2,872 

   783,307   781,016 

   1,052,368   977,159

approved by the Board

Ken Mullen Kevin Nugent
director director

Consolidated Balance Sheets

the accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars) $   $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 net earnings (loss) 8,313   (27,893)
 items not affecting cash: 
  stock-based compensation (note 14(g)) 4,952  4,450 
  depreciation and amortization  49,662   35,814 
  impairment loss (notes 7 and 8(a)) –  27,370 
  amortization of other assets (note 8(b)) 3,148  2,326 
  Future income taxes (note 11(a)) 12,789  (1,164)
  loss on disposal of assets (note 18) 3,097   169

   81,961   41,072 
 Change in non-cash working capital (note 16(b))  (36,702)  22,207 

 Cash flows from operations  45,259   63,279 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 shares issued, net of share issue costs (note 14(b))  9  120,031 
 issuance of long-term debt   60,000   25,000 
 repayment of long-term debt   (17,039) (146,982)
 dividends paid (1,977) (6,902)

 Cash flows from (used in) financing activities  40,993  (8,853)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 purchase of property and equipment (100,764)  (64,471)
 proceeds on disposal of assets (notes 7 and 8(c)) 9,941  1,520 
 purchase of other assets (3,843) (1,753)
 Change in notes receivable (1,353)  (210)
 Change in working capital related to investing activities (note 16(b)) 7,141   147 

 Cash flows used in investing activities  (88,878)  (64,767)

DECREASE IN CASH, NET OF BANK INDEBTEDNESS (2,626)  (10,341)
CASH, NET OF BANK INDEBTEDNESS, BEGINNING OF YEAR (6,748) 3,593 

CASH, NET OF BANK INDEBTEDNESS, END OF YEAR (9,374) (6,748)

Consolidated Statements  

of Cash Flows

the accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars) $   $

NET EARNINGS (LOSS) 8,313   (27,893)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 Foreign currency translation adjustment (9,443)  (29,220)
 unrealized foreign exchange gain on net investment hedge, net of tax of $270 (2009 – $111) 1,809   10,782

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  679   (46,331)

Consolidated Statements  

of Comprehensive Income (loss)

the accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Accumulated  

other Comprehensive Income (loss)

For the years ended december 31 2010  2009

(stated in thousands of dollars) $   $

accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year 2,872   21,310 
 other comprehensive loss (7,634)  (18,438)

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), end of year (4,762) 2,872
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For the years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009 (stated in thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Savanna Energy Services Corp. (the “Company” or “Savanna”) was incorporated under the Alberta Business Corporations 
Act on March 22, 2001, to provide a variety of services in the oil and natural gas industry. Savanna operates through a 
number of wholly-owned subsidiaries and 50/50 limited partnerships which are managed through three reportable 
operating segments: corporate, services, and drilling. 

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements of Savanna have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.  
All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

NOTE 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared using careful judgment 
within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the significant accounting policies summarized below:

A) JOINT vENTURES
The Company conducts a portion of its operations in the drilling and services divisions through joint ventures. Joint 
ventures are established through contractual arrangements whereby the strategic financial and operating policies of the 
venture require the unanimous consent of each of the venturers (joint control). Savanna’s joint ventures are comprised  
of 50/50 limited partnerships in which each of Savanna and a First Nation partner hold an equal interest. A jointly 
controlled partnership operates in the same way as other entities and controls its own assets, earns its own income and 
incurs its own liabilities and expenses. 

Interests in jointly controlled partnerships are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method. Under  
the proportionate consolidation method, the Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of  
jointly controlled partnerships is combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial statements on  
a line-by-line basis.

In certain circumstances, the Company will build and sell interests in drilling or well servicing rigs and related 
equipment to these partnerships. Such sales may be transacted directly with the partnership or with the other partners. 
The Company eliminates its proportionate share of transactions with the jointly controlled partnerships.

b) REvENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from drilling, well servicing and other oilfield services is recognized upon delivery of service to customers and 
is calculated on a daily or hourly basis. Cost recoveries billed to customers are included as both revenue and operating 
expenses and are not netted. The customer contract terms do not include a provision for post-delivery obligations. 

Revenues include, as appropriate, the proceeds from the sales of the interests in drilling or well servicing rigs and related 
equipment sold to partners or partnerships. Net profits on rig sales related to amounts that remain receivable from the 
partners or partnerships are deferred and recognized once collection is reasonably assured. All other sales of rigs are 
recognized upon completion of the transaction and transfer of beneficial ownership to the acquirer. 

Interest revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a monthly basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the applicable effective interest rate.

Lease revenue from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

C) CASH AND bANK INDEbTEDNESS
Cash consists of cash held in banks. Bank indebtedness consists of temporary overdrafts, operating facilities and cheques 
written but not cashed by the payee. Classification as cash or bank indebtedness depends on the financial institution in 
which the consolidated balance is held, except for balances held through jointly-controlled partnerships. Balances held 
through jointly-controlled partnerships are classified on an individual basis rather than as a consolidated group. 
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D) INvENTORY
The Company’s inventory includes parts and operating supplies valued at the lower of cost, determined on a weighted 
average basis, and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price for inventory items less costs  
to sell. 

E) PROPERTY, EqUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method beginning  
in the month of acquisition, except for drilling rigs and equipment which are depreciated based on the number of 
drilling days and well servicing rigs which are depreciated based on the number of operating hours.

Buildings 20 years straight-line
Field equipment – non-drilling or well servicing 10 to 15 years straight-line with salvage values of 10% to 20%
Drilling rigs and equipment 1,500 to 4,125 drilling days with a salvage value of 20% 
Well servicing rigs 24,000 operating hours with a salvage value of 20% 
Furniture and office equipment Three to five years straight-line
Vehicles Three to five years straight-line

Costs related to equipment under construction are capitalized when incurred. No depreciation is provided  
on assets under construction until those assets are substantially complete and ready for use. 

F) INTANGIbLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consist of costs associated with securing Savanna’s intellectual property rights and are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
expected period of benefit. Intangible assets are reviewed annually with respect to their useful lives, or more frequently, 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. Any impairment is charged to income in 
the period in which it is determined and the effects of any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis. 

G) OTHER ASSETS
Other assets include rig re-certification costs which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected 
useful lives (three to four years). Amortization expense related to re-certification costs is included in operating expenses 
in the consolidated financial statements. At December 31, 2009, other assets also included a long-term investment  
(Note 3(p)). 

H) IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIvED ASSETS
On a periodic basis management assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets for indications of impairment. 
Indications of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and significant changes in technology. An impairment 
loss is recognized when the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds the total undiscounted cash flows expected from 
its use and eventual disposition. The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of 
the asset over its fair value. 

I) CURRENT TAxES
Current income taxes payable are based on taxable earnings for the year. Taxable earnings differs from earnings as 
reported in the consolidated statements of net earnings and comprehensive income because of items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in different years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period. Current taxes are recognized in earnings except when they relate to items that are not part of the 
determination of earnings, in which case the tax is recognized net of those items.



 SAvA N N A  E N E R G Y  S E R v I C E S  C O R P .  2 0 1 0  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  45

n o t e s  t o  t H e  C o n s o l i d at e d  F i n a n C i a l  s tat e M e n t s

J) FUTURE TAxES
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets  
and liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability and  
its tax base. Future tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Future tax assets are 
generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount of future tax assets 
is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Future taxes are recognized in earnings 
except when they relate to items that are not part of the determination of earnings, in which case the tax is recognized 
net of those items.

Future tax liabilities are also recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with the Company’s interests  
in joint ventures. Future tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these interests are  
only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize  
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Company’s future tax balances have been measured based on tax rates, which have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period, that are expected to apply when the temporary differences between the 
accounting and tax balances of the Company’s assets and liabilities are reversed.

Future tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

K) LEASES
Leases are classified as capital leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Assets held under capital leases are initially recognized at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments with the corresponding liability included in long-term debt as a capital 
lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between interest expense and a reduction of the lease obligation so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred. Lease incentives, if received, are recognized as a reduction of the related expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

L) STOCK-bASED COMPENSATION
The Company follows the fair value method of accounting for equity settled stock options, using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model, whereby, compensation expense is recognized for the stock options on the date of granting,  
and amortized over the options’ vesting period. Effective January 1, 2010 the Company estimated the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest and applies a forfeiture rate in computing the fair value of option grants. Subsequent 
changes in its estimates are recognized in earnings such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimates.  
Prior to January 1, 2010, all forfeited options were cancelled by the Company immediately and no stock-based 
compensation was recorded on these options in future periods and any unvested stock-based compensation expense 
in the current period was reversed. The effect of the change in estimate was not material to the Company’s financial 
position or net earnings. 
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Stock-based compensation expense is also provided for deferred share units (“DSUs”) and performance share units 
(“PSUs”) held by directors and officers of the Company. Vested DSUs and PSUs are measured at fair value at each 
reporting period on a mark-to-market basis; any changes in the fair value of DSUs or PSUs are recognized immediately 
in earnings. DSUs will be settled in cash upon exercise or on the date a director ceases to be a director of the Company 
or within 120 days of termination of an officer. PSUs which meet the performance and other vesting criteria will be 
settled in cash or shares, at the option of the Company, upon exercise. The recognition and valuation of DSUs and  
PSUs results in stock-based compensation expense and corresponding liabilities which have been included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

M) PENSION ARRANGEMENTS
Defined contribution plan costs, which constitute the Company’s major pension arrangement, are expensed by the 
Company in the period that the contributions are earned. The Company’s defined contribution plan costs for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 were $800 (2009 – $539). 

N) EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding in the period. Diluted 
earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the dilutive effect 
of outstanding stock options granted under the Company’s stock option plan. 

O) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Monetary assets and liabilities relating to foreign denominated transactions are initially recorded at the rate of exchange 
in effect at the transaction date. Gains and losses resulting from subsequent changes in foreign exchange rates are 
recorded in earnings for the period. 

Savanna’s foreign operations are considered to be self-sustaining and are translated as follows: assets and liabilities  
are translated into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and revenues and expenses 
are translated at rates prevailing when they were incurred. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation of the 
Company’s foreign operations are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income 
(“OCI”). Amounts included in accumulated OCI will be recognized in earnings when there is a reduction in the net 
investment of the foreign operation. Advances made to its foreign operations for which settlement is not planned or 
anticipated in the foreseeable future are considered part of the Company’s net investment in its self-sustaining foreign 
operations. Accordingly, unrealized gains and losses from these advances are recorded in OCI. 

P) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All of the Company’s financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the balance sheet and classified into 
the following categories: held for trading financial assets and financial liabilities, loans or receivables, held to maturity 
investments, available for sale financial assets, and other financial liabilities. Subsequent measurements of the financial 
instruments are based on their classification. Unrealized gains and losses on held for trading financial instruments are 
recognized in earnings. Gains and losses on available for sale financial assets are recognized in OCI and are transferred 
to earnings when the instrument is settled. The other categories of financial instruments are recognized at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Any transaction costs with respect to financial instruments are expensed in 
the period incurred. The Company does not currently utilize derivative financial instruments.

The Company’s financial instruments are listed as follows, according to their classification:
i) Cash is classified as fair value through profit or loss and is measured at fair value. Gains and losses as a result of 

subsequent revaluations are recorded in net earnings.
ii) Accounts and notes receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are initially measured at fair value with 

subsequent revaluations recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
iii) Long-term investments, when held, are classified as available for sale financial assets and are measured at fair value; 

subsequent changes in these fair values are recognized in OCI and are transferred to earnings when settled.
iv) Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term debt are classified as other liabilities and 

are initially measured at fair value with subsequent revaluations recognized at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.
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The Company’s U.S. dollar denominated debt has been designated as a hedge of the net investment in its U.S. operations. 
At the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedge is highly effective  
in offsetting foreign exchange fluctuations of its net investment. The effective portion of the change in fair value of the 
hedging instrument is recorded in OCI; any ineffectiveness is recorded immediately in earnings. Amounts included in 
Accumulated OCI will be recognized in earnings when there is a reduction of the hedged net investment.

q) USE OF ESTIMATES AND ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant of these estimates are 
related to the depreciation period for property, equipment and intangible assets, the recoverability of property, equipment, 
intangible assets and goodwill, the provision of doubtful accounts and notes receivable, stock-based compensation expense 
and estimates in future income taxes. Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates.

Changes in accounting policies are made only if they result in financial statements which provide more reliable and relevant 
information. Accounting policy changes are applied retrospectively unless it is impractical to determine the period or 
cumulative impact of the change. Corrections of prior period errors are applied retrospectively and changes in accounting 
estimates are applied prospectively by including these changes in earnings. 

Changes to the Company’s accounting policies during the year are as follows: Effective January 1, 2010, the Company 
elected to early adopt three new sections of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook:
i) Section 1582, “Business Combinations”; under the new section the term “business” is more broadly defined than in the 

existing standard. Most assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value, any interest in an acquiree 
owned prior to obtaining control is remeasured at fair value at the acquisition date (eliminating the need for guidance 
on step acquisitions). A bargain purchase results in recognition of a gain, and acquisition costs are expensed. The 
adoption of this section had no effect on the Company’s financial position or operating results.

ii) Section 1601, “Consolidations” carries forward the requirements of Section 1600, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, 
other than those relating to non-controlling interests which would be covered in Section 1602 (Note 3(q)(iii)). The 
adoption of this section had no effect on the Company’s financial position or operating results.

iii) Section 1602 “Non-controlling Interests” requires non-controlling interests to be recognized as a separate component 
of shareholder’s equity; net income is calculated without deducting non-controlling interest and instead net income 
is allocated between the controlling and non-controlling interests. The adoption of this section had no effect on the 
Company’s financial position or operating results.

NOTE 4 INVENTORY
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company’s inventory included parts and operating supplies; the 
changes during the year are as follows:
  2010  2009

  $   $

Balance, beginning of year 4,195  6,032 
purchases 2,568  1,324
Capitalized  –  (327)
expensed in operating costs  (2,675)  (2,628)
sold with coil tubing service units (notes 7 and 18) (313)  – 
re-classified as current assets held for sale (note 5)  (50) – 
Write-down to net realizable value (note 18)  – (165)
Changes due to changes in foreign exchange rates  (12)  (41)

Balance, end of year 3,713 4,195

No inventories were specifically pledged as security for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009; however all  
of the inventories were covered under the general security agreement of the Company’s term revolving credit facility 
(Note 10(a)).
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NOTE 5 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Subsequent to the end of the year, the Company sold its machining and pipe inspection facility and a majority of the 
related assets for gross proceeds of $3,217 and as a result the carrying amounts of the assets were reclassified from 
property and equipment to current assets. The assets sold were purchased with and operated as a non-core part of 
Savanna’s rental business in the services segment. The remaining $449 of assets continue to be held for sale and are 
measured at fair value, which is the amount the Company expects to receive on their ultimate disposition.

NOTE 6 NOTES RECEIVABLE AND DEFERRED NET REVENUE
      2010 2010 2009 2009
    interest effective Notes Deferred notes deferred
    rate rate Receivable Net Revenue receivable net revenue

     % % $ $ $ $

note receivable (a) p+5  8  4,418 828 4,189 828
note receivable (b) p+5  8  4,418 819 4,189 819
note receivable (c) 10  10  1,016 – 1,252  – 
note receivable (d)  7   7  554 – –  –
note receivable (e)  7   7  578 – – –

       10,984 1,647 9,630 1,647

The notes receivable in (a), (b) and (c) above arose from the sale of interests in drilling and well servicing rigs and related 
equipment to partners of the Company’s jointly-controlled partnerships and have no set repayment terms. Net profits 
related to amounts that remain receivable are deferred and recognized once reasonable certainty regarding the collection 
of the related receivable exists. 

The notes receivable in (d) and (e) above were advanced to partnerships owned 50% by the Company (Note 20(e)) and 
were used primarily to pay down current amounts owing by the partnerships to Savanna. Each of the notes requires  
48 equal monthly payments of $16 including principal and interest.

All of these notes must be paid in full before the partnerships make any cash distribution to the partners. The notes 
receivable are secured by the related equipment, the fair values of which exceed the amount of the notes. In 2010, $571 
(2009 – $560) in interest was accrued on the notes receivable and $358 (2009 – $170) in principal repayments and $210 
(2009 – $180) in interest was received by Savanna.

NOTE 7 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
      2010   2009
     Accumulated Net Book  accumulated net Book
    Cost Depreciation Value Cost depreciation Value

    $ $ $ $ $ $

land  12,172  –  12,172  12,912  –  12,912 
Buildings  25,691  4,997  20,694  27,809  3,573  24,236 
Field equipment  1,001,667   195,782   805,885   977,948   157,568   820,380 
equipment under construction  46,973  –  46,973 –  –  – 
Furniture and office equipment 6,058  3,836  2,222  5,135  3,057  2,078 
equipment under capital leases 5,010  1,428  3,582  3,319  674  2,645

    1,097,571   206,043   891,528  1,027,123   164,872   862,251

During the first and second quarters of 2010, the Company sold its entire fleet of eight coil tubing service units, including 
related equipment and inventory (Note 4), for proceeds of $3,658 which resulted in a loss of $1,748 (Note 18). In the third 
and fourth quarters, the Company also disposed of four surface-setting rigs for aggregate proceeds of $3,600, reducing the 
surface/coring fleet to five rigs; these dispositions resulted in a loss of $418 (Note 18). During 2010, Savanna disposed of 
other redundant assets for proceeds of $2,237 which resulted in a loss of $279 (Note 18).
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All of the rigs sold above were part of non-core business units that were added as a result of the 2006 merger with Western 
Lakota Energy Services Inc. and had been under-utilized through most of 2009, which in turn led to impairment losses of 
$25,832 in the fourth quarter of 2009. The impairment losses were a result of management’s best estimates of the sale values 
of this equipment on the open market and were based on information that was available at December 31, 2009. These 
estimates were subject to measurement uncertainty as they were dependent on factors outside of management’s control.

Subsequent to the end of the year, the Company’s two service rigs in Australia were located in a primary flood zone and 
suffered extensive damage. The net book value of the two service rigs at December 31, 2010 was $12,149 and the total cost 
for restoration and repairs to the rigs is currently expected to be between $4,000 and $7,000. Savanna expects to be fully 
reimbursed for all of the repair and related costs through its insurance program. Although the damage occurred in 2011, 
the Company accrued for the insurance deductible of $459 in 2010. The Company does not expect to incur any losses 
related to this claim in 2011; however these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty as they are dependent  
on factors outside of management’s control.

NOTE 8 INTANGIBLES AND OTHER ASSETS
      2010   2009
     Accumulated Net Book  accumulated net Book
    Cost Depreciation Value Cost depreciation Value

     $ $ $ $ $ $

intangible assets (a) 101  24  77  101  18  83 
rig re-certification costs (b) 13,874  7,192  6,682  10,048  4,069  5,979 
long-term investment (c)  – – –  1,098  –  1,098 

    13,975  7,216  6,759  11,247  4,087  7,160

 a) At December 31, 2009 impairment tests were performed on intangible assets using primarily multiple period excess 
earnings analyses. These tests indicated that the carrying amounts of certain of these assets exceeded their fair value. 
The conditions which led to the impairment of these intangible assets were impacted by external factors such as a 
continuing low economic activity levels and depressed oil and natural gas demand and pricing which had negatively 
affected industry activity levels and utilization rates. 

 As a result, in 2009, a loss of $1,538 relating to intangible asset impairment was included in the consolidated 
statement of earnings. The impaired intangible assets consisted of the value attributed to customer relationships and 
non-competition agreements. The amount of the impairment loss was a result of management’s best estimates of 
expected revenues, expenses and cash flows and was based on information that was available at December 31, 2009. 
These estimates were subject to measurement uncertainty as they were dependent on factors outside of management’s 
control. In addition, by their nature impairment tests involve a significant degree of judgement as expectations 
concerning future cash flows and the selection of appropriate market inputs are subject to considerable risks  
and uncertainties. 

 In 2010, intangible assets consisted only of the costs associated with securing Savanna’s intellectual property rights. 
During the year, amortization expense of $6 (2009 – $688) relating to intangible assets was included in depreciation 
and amortization expense in the consolidated statement of earnings.

b) During the year, amortization expense of $3,148 (2009 – $2,326) relating to rig re-certification costs was included  
in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings.

c) In December 2009, the Company received preferred shares in one of its customers in exchange for the total amount 
owing from the customer to Savanna; the amount of the investment resulted from a decrease in trade accounts 
receivable of $2,762 and a decrease in the related allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,664. In Q4 2010, the 
Company sold its investment for proceeds of $446 which resulted in a loss of $652 (Note 18).
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NOTE 9 BANK INDEBTEDNESS
    interest effective  2010 2009
    rate rate authorized Outstanding outstanding

     % % $ $ $

swing-line operating facility (note 10(a)) note 10(a) 5.5  20,000 13,696  10,255 
limited partnership operating facilities (a) p+1 4.0  1,125 536  329 
Cheques written but not cashed – – – 1,197  644

       21,125 15,429 11,228

“p” denotes Canadian prime rate, which was 3% at december 31, 2010 (2009 – 2.25%). the effective rate represents the actual rates of interest paid 
during the year.

a) These operating facilities are in limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company. The amounts presented are the 
Company’s proportionate share. The Company has not guaranteed any of the loans in the limited partnerships.  
These operating facilities are supported by either a general security agreement covering all assets of each limited 
partnership, or the accounts receivable of each limited partnership. These facilities are renewed annually at the 
banks’ discretion.

NOTE 10 LONG-TERM DEBT
    Monthly
    principal interest effective Maturity  2010 2009
    payments rate rate date authorized Outstanding outstanding

     $ % %   $ $ $

SAVANNA 
 term revolving credit facility (a) (a) (a) 5.5 (a) 155,000 109,784 66,864
 obligations under capital lease (b)  32  4.2-5.7 5.4 Jan-11-oct-15 1,784 1,784 518

            156,784 111,568 67,382

LIMITED PARTNERSHIP FACILITIES (c) 
 term loans   85  7.3 7.4 oct-11-Jan-12 896 896 1,868
 obligations under capital lease (b)  45  8.6 9.0 Feb-11 338 338 857

            1,234 1,234 2,725

total long-term debt     158,018 112,802 70,107
less: current portion      10,761 7,512

              102,041 62,595

the effective rate represents the actual rates of interest paid during the year and includes commitment fees as applicable.

a) The entire facility, which is with a syndicate of banks, is renewed every 365 days at the banks’ discretion; however,  
if it is not renewed on the annual renewal date (September 23rd), the facility reverts to a two-year term loan with a 
three-year amortization, requiring quarterly payments. The facility was renewed in September 2010 and as a result 
the first required principal repayment, if not renewed in 2011, would be due in December 2011.

 The total $175,000 (2009 – $220,000) facility is comprised of the $155,000 (2009 – $205,000) outlined in the table 
above and the $20,000 (2009 – $15,000) committed to the swing-line operating facility included in bank indebtedness 
in the consolidated financial statements (Note 9). Of the total amount outstanding on this facility $39,784 Canadian 
dollar equivalent (December 31, 2009 – $41,864) was denominated in U.S. dollars. 
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 Borrowings under the facility may be made by way of Canadian prime rate based advances, bankers’ acceptances, 
letters of credit, U.S. base rate or LIBOR advances. The facility bears interest at the banks’ Canadian prime rate plus 
0.5% to prime plus 2.5% (2009 – prime rate plus 1.25% to prime plus 2.5%), bankers’ acceptance, letter of credit, or 
LIBOR plus a 2.0% to 4.0% stamping fee (2009 – bankers’ acceptance, letter of credit, or LIBOR plus a 2.75% to 4.0% 
stamping fee) which is dependent on certain financial ratios of the Company. A commitment fee ranging from 0.4% 
to 0.8% (2009 – 0.55% to 0.8%) per annum is paid quarterly on the unused portion of the facility depending on certain 
financial ratios of the Company. The facility is secured by a general security agreement over all the present and future 
property of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants at 
December 31, 2010 (Note 15).

b) The obligations under capital lease are secured by the related equipment (Note 7).
c) The limited partnership facilities are in limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company. The amounts presented are 

the Company’s proportionate share. The Company has not guaranteed any of the loans in the limited partnerships. 
Within the individual limited liability partnerships, the loans are secured by a general assignment of book debts and  
a general security agreement charging all present and after-acquired property of the limited partnerships.

Repayments required over the next five years are as follows:

       long-term debt   obligations under capital lease  
     principal   principal   interest   total

       $   $   $   $ 

For the years ending december 31, 2011  10,044   717  95  10,856 
    2012  36,595   329  68  36,992 
    2013  64,041   339  50  64,430 
    2014 –  316  33  349 
    2015 –  421  14  435

      110,680  2,122   260   113,062

NOTE 11 INCOME TAXES 
A) INCOME TAx ExPENSE
The provision for income taxes differs from the result which would be obtained by applying the combined federal and 
provincial income tax rate of 28% (2009 – 29%) to the earnings (loss) before income taxes. This difference results from  
the following:
  2010  2009

  $   $

income (loss) before income taxes 11,879 (36,091)
Computed income tax expense (recovery) at the statutory rate  3,326  (10,466)
Increase (decrease) resulting from: 
 non-deductible expenses 1,749 1,568 
 permanent differences relating to dispositions of property and equipment  24  301 
 permanent differences relating to impairment losses –  111 
 income tax rate differential on foreign operations (602)  601 
 Changes in future income tax rates (1,050) (621)
 other 119  308 

Income tax expense (recovery)  3,566   (8,198)

represented by: 
 Current income taxes (9,223)  (7,034)
 Future income taxes 12,789  (1,164)

Income tax expense (recovery)  3,566   (8,198)
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b) FUTURE INCOME TAx ASSETS AND LIAbILITIES
The components of the Company’s future income tax assets and liabilities are a result of the origination and reversal of 
temporary differences and are comprised of the following:
  2010  2009

  $   $

Future income tax assets 
unused non-capital losses* 52,570  34,706 
share issue and deferred financing costs 1,035 1,867 
deferred share unit plan 701  297 
Future tax recovery on income from limited partnerships – 9,785 
intangibles and other assets 1,961 2,661

  56,267   49,316 

Future income tax liabilities 
property and equipment (142,401)  (124,637)
Future income taxes on income from limited partnerships (1,968)  – 
unrealized foreign exchange loss on net investment hedge (2,286)  (1,966)

  (146,655)   (126,603)

Net future income tax liability  (90,388)  (77,287)

By jurisdiction: 
Canada (90,202) (69,959)
international (186)  (7,328)

Net future income tax liability  (90,388)  (77,287)

* the Company has non-capital losses available for carry forward totalling $157,787 (2009 – $101,319), of which $99,082 (2009 – $69,563) relates to 
international entities and $58,705 (2009 – $31,756) relates to Canadian entities. the unused tax losses, which begin to expire in 2026, may  
be applied to reduce future taxable income and future income taxes payable.

NOTE 12 COMMITMENTS
a) Commitments relating to office and shop premises are recorded as rent expenses in the period the monthly amounts 

relate to and are included in operating and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
earnings at that time. 

b) Commitments relating to operating vehicle and equipment leases are recorded as equipment rental expenses in the 
period the amounts relate to and are included in operating expenses and general and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statement of earnings at that time.

c) Commitments relating to equipment purchases, asset construction, maintenance capital, and rig re-certifications are 
estimated based on capital budgets. Actual expenditures are recorded as capital asset additions at the time of 
payment and could differ from these estimates. 

Payments required in each of the next five years are as follows:

  $

For the years ending december 31, 2011 116,921
 2012 3,403
 2013 1,148
 2014 1,056
 2015 725

  123,253
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NOTE 13 CONTINGENCIES
The Company was subject to legal claims at December 31, 2010 and, although the outcome of these matters is not 
determinable at this time, the Company believes the claims will not have any material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial position or operating results.

Subsequent to the end of the year, two of Savanna’s service rigs located in Australia suffered extensive flooding damage. 
Savanna does not expect to incur any losses related to this claim in 2011 as the Company expects to be fully reimbursed for 
all of the repair and related costs through its insurance program (Note 7) and the required deductible was accrued in 2010.

NOTE 14 SHARE CAPITAL 
A) AUTHORIzED
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares, Class A common shares, and preferred shares.

b) ISSUED
   2010  2009

  Shares $ shares $

COMMON SHARES 
Balance, beginning of year  79,078  911,764   58,953  789,841 
issued for cash on a bought-deal basis  –   –   20,125  126,788 
issued for cash on exercise of stock options 2  9   –   – 
Fair value of stock options exercised  –  3   –   – 
share issue costs, net of future tax benefit of $1,892  –   –   –   (4,865)

Balance, end of year 79,080 911,776 79,078 911,764

The Company has 5,846 (2009 – 5,846) common shares reserved for issue upon exercise of stock options and PSUs.  
On June 3, 2009 the Company issued 20,125 common shares at a price of $6.30 per share for gross proceeds of $126,788 
on a bought-deal basis with a syndicate of underwriters.

C) CONTRIbUTED SURPLUS
  2010 2009

  $ $

Balance, beginning of year  20,135   16,483 
stock-based compensation expense relating to stock options (note 14(g)) 3,580  3,652 
Fair value of stock options exercised (reclassified to share capital) (3) –

Balance, end of year  23,712   20,135

D) DEFERRED SHARE UNIT PLAN
The Company has a deferred share unit plan for independent directors and officers of the Company. The DSUs are 
granted annually and represent rights to share value based on the number of DSUs issued. Under the terms of the plan, 
DSUs awarded to independent directors will vest immediately and those awarded to officers will vest equally over  
a three-year term on their anniversary date.

  2010 2010 2009 2009

  Outstanding Exercisable outstanding exercisable
  DSUs DSUs dsus dsus

outstanding, beginning of year 227  212  132   98 
independent directors, granted/vested 122  122  110  110 
officers, granted/vested  55   28  2   21 
settled in cash – –  (17) (17)

outstanding, end of year 404  362  227  212
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The number of DSUs expected to vest are valued on a mark-to-market basis. The recognition and valuation of DSUs 
results in stock-based compensation expense (Note 14(g)) and a corresponding liability of $2,563 (2009 – $1,923) which 
was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

E) PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT PLAN
In Q3 2010, the Company implemented a performance share unit plan for officers of the Company. The PSUs are granted 
annually and represent rights to share value based on the number of PSUs issued and achieving certain performance 
criteria as set out by the Board of Directors. Subject to achievement of performance criteria, under the terms of the plan, 
PSUs awarded will vest equally over a three-year term on their anniversary date and are recognized over their vesting 
period. PSUs which meet the performance and other vesting criteria will be settled in cash upon exercise.

   2010 2010

   Outstanding Exercisable
   PSUs PSUs

outstanding, beginning of year  – – 
Granted  157  –
Cancelled  (30) – 

outstanding, end of year  127  –

The number of PSUs expected to vest are valued on a mark-to-market basis. The recognition and valuation of PSUs 
results in stock-based compensation expense (Note 14(g)) and a corresponding liability of $241 (2009 – $Nil) which  
was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

F) STOCK OPTION PLAN
The Company has a stock option plan for the purpose of developing the interest of officers, employees and consultants 
of the Company and its subsidiaries in the growth and development of the Company by providing them with the 
opportunity, through stock options, to acquire an increased effective interest in the Company. 

   2010  2009

   Weighted  Weighted
   Average  average
   Exercise  exercise
   Price  price
  Share (per share) share (per share)
  Options $ options $

outstanding, beginning of year  3,086  16.82  2,585  20.63 
Granted  2,732  6.27 907   6.01 
expired  (378) 26.61  (220) 16.91 
Forfeited  (284) 9.39  (186) 17.08 

outstanding, end of year  5,156  10.91  3,086  16.82

At December 31, 2010, 5,156 (2009 – 3,086) options were outstanding at exercise prices between $4.46 and $29.35 per 
share (2009 – $4.46 and $29.65 per share). The options expire from March 9, 2011 to November 22, 2015 and vest in 
equal amounts on their anniversary over three to five years. At December 31, 2010, 1,985 (2009 – 1,277) options were 
exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $16.48 (2009 – $22.16). The following table summarizes these details:
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    2010   2009

   Weighted   Weighted
  Number of Average Number of number of average number of
exercise price Options Contractual Options options Contractual options
(per share) Outstanding Life (years) Exercisable outstanding life (years) exercisable

$4.46 – $8.05  3,424   3.7   554   918   3.5  14
$15.90 – $19.91  1,622   0.9  1,321  1,772   1.9   896
$22.56 – $29.65   110   0.2   110   396   1.0   367 

  5,156  2.7 1,985  3,086  2.3 1,277

Compensation expense for stock options is recognized using the fair value when the stock options are granted, and is 
amortized over the option’s vesting period for employees and the related service period for non employees. For options 
granted in 2010, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free 
interest rates of 2% to 3% (2009 – 2%), expected lives of three to five years (2009 – 3.5 years), expected annual dividends 
of $Nil to $0.03 (2009 – $0.10), estimated forfeiture rates of 10% (2009 – 0%) and expected volatilities of 47% to 49% 
(2009 – 47%). The fair value of the options granted in the period was $6,641. 

G) STOCK-bASED COMPENSATION ExPENSE
  2010 2009

  $ $

stock-based compensation expense relating to: 
 deferred share units (note 14(d))  1,095  798 
 performance share units (note 14(e)) 277  – 
 stock options (note 14(f))  3,580   3,652

  4,952   4,450

H) RECONCILIATION OF WEIGHTED AvERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
     2010 2009

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 79,078 70,532
effect of dilutive securities: stock options – – 

diluted weighted average shares outstanding 79,078 70,532

The effect of dilutive securities with respect to stock options for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was 
anti-dilutive resulting in the same weighted average shares outstanding on both a basic and diluted basis. 

NOTE 15 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The capital structure of the Company consists of the following:

  2010 2009

  $ $

long-term debt (note 10) 112,802  70,107 
shareholders’ equity 783,307  781,016 

total capitalization 896,109  851,123

Savanna’s primary objective of managing capital, given the cyclical nature of the oil and gas services business, is to 
preserve the Company’s financial flexibility in order to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and in turn 
maximize returns for Savanna shareholders. This objective is achieved by: prudently managing the capital generated 
through internal growth; optimizing the use of lower cost capital; raising share capital when required to fund growth 
initiatives; and a conservative approach to safeguarding the Company’s assets.
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The Company’s ability to access its term revolving credit facility and swing-line operating facility (Note 10(a)) is directly 
dependent, among other factors, on the following financial ratios: (i) total long-term debt to twelve month trailing 
EBITDAS (EBITDAS is defined as earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and stock-based 
compensation) of less than 3.0 and; (ii) total long-term debt to total capitalization (see table above) of less than 0.5. The 
computation of these ratios excludes amounts from certain non-guarantor subsidiaries and the limited partnerships 
owned 50% by the Company. The Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants as at December 31, 2010 
and 2009. Other than its debt covenants, the Company has no externally imposed capital requirements.

Additionally, the ability to raise capital through the issuance of equity could be restricted in the face of a reduction in 
oilfield service demand. Although Savanna cannot anticipate all eventualities in this regard, the Company maintains 
what it believes to be a conservatively leveraged balance sheet by maintaining a long-term debt to shareholders’ equity 
ratio below 0.50 (see below). In certain circumstances the Company may need to increase this ratio in order to fund 
significant acquisitions or other significant expansions; however, the current level provides for considerable flexibility 
while maintaining a conservatively leveraged balance sheet.

  2010 2009

long-term debt to shareholders’ equity ratio 0.14  0.09

The Company intends to maintain a flexible capital structure consistent with the objectives stated above and to respond 
to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust 
Savanna’s capital structure, the Company may purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to normal course issuer bids, 
issue new shares, adjust the amount of dividends paid to align the dividend policy with shareholder expectations, raise 
debt or refinance existing debt with different characteristics.

NOTE 16 SUPPLEMENTARY CASH INFORMATION
a) During the year the Company paid and received the following:
  2010 2009

  $ $

Cash interest paid  (5,973)  (5,453)
Cash interest received  285   263 
Cash income taxes paid (972)  (2,749)
Cash income taxes refunded 9,389  9,361

b) The net change in working capital items other than cash is as follows:
  2010 2009

  $ $

accounts receivable (40,039)  29,672 
inventory 182 1,815 
prepaid expenses and deposits (549) (126)
accounts payable and accrued liabilities  11,635   (8,557)
income taxes receivable (790)  (450)

  (29,561) 22,354 

represented by: 
 Cash flows from operating activities (36,702)  22,207 
 Cash flows from investing activities  7,141 147

  (29,561)  22,354

c) During 2010, property and equipment was acquired at an aggregate cost of $1,815 (2009 – $Nil) by way of capital 
lease and as such were excluded from the statement of cash flows as non-cash transactions.
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NOTE 17 SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company’s reportable operating segments, as determined by management, are strategic operating units that offer 
different products and services. The Company has three reportable operating segments: corporate, services, and drilling. 

The corporate segment provides management and administrative services to all its subsidiaries and their respective operations. 

The services segment provides well servicing services and rental equipment to the oil and gas industry. 

The drilling segment provides primarily contract drilling services to the oil and gas industry through both conventional 
and hybrid drilling rigs.
       inter-
       segment 2010
    Corporate services drilling eliminations Total

     $ $ $ $ $

REVENUE 
oilfield services –  91,359  349,074   (2,658) 437,775 
other –  115   506  –  621 

    –  91,474  349,580  (2,658) 438,396 

OPERATING COSTS 
oilfield services –  68,518  265,545   (2,658) 331,405 

REVENUE LESS OPERATING COSTS –  22,956  84,035 – 106,991 

depreciation and amortization 1,821   12,435   35,406  –  49,662 
interest on long-term debt  5,873  55   142  – 6,070 
earnings (loss) before income taxes (39,627) 4,446  47,060 –  11,879 
total assets  38,698  186,546  827,124  –  1,052,368
Capital assets(i)  22,555  160,511  715,221  – 898,287 
Capital expenditures(ii) 1,513   27,383  75,711  – 104,607

i) Capital assets include property and equipment, intangibles, and other assets. 

ii) Capital expenditures include the purchase of property and equipment, intangibles, and other assets.

       inter-
       segment 2009
    Corporate services drilling eliminations total

     $ $ $ $ $

REVENUE 
oilfield services –  59,551  199,177   (2,670) 256,058 
other –  117   444  –  561 

    –  59,668  199,621   (2,670) 256,619 

OPERATING COSTS 
oilfield services –  44,697  156,980   (2,670) 199,007 

REVENUE LESS OPERATING COSTS –  14,971   42,641  –  57,612 

depreciation and amortization 1,622  9,559   24,633  –  35,814 
impairment loss – 5,279   22,091  –  27,370 
interest on long-term debt  4,674   154   291  – 5,119 
earnings (loss) before income taxes (26,838)  (1,813)  (7,440) – (36,091)
total assets  34,937  177,179  765,043  – 977,159 
Capital assets(i)  23,682  157,153  688,576  – 869,411 
Capital expenditures(ii) 3,128  6,457   56,639  –  66,224

i) Capital assets include property and equipment, intangibles, and other assets. 

ii) Capital expenditures include the purchase of property and equipment, intangibles, and other assets.
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The Company operates in two different geographical areas, the breakdown of which is as follows:

    2010   2009
  Canada International(i) Total Canada international(i) total

  $ $ $ $ $ $

revenue 306,957  131,439  438,396  182,560   74,059  256,619 
total assets 818,035  234,333   1,052,368  765,563  211,596  977,159 
Capital assets(ii) 691,188  207,099  898,287   677,518  191,893  869,411 

i) includes u.s., australia and Mexico operations.

ii) Capital assets include property and equipment, intangibles, and other assets. 

NOTE 18 OTHER EXPENSES
The breakdown of other expenses is as follows:
  2010 2009

  $ $

loss on disposal of assets (notes 4 and 7)  2,445  169 
loss on sale of long-term investment (note 8(c)) 652  – 
inventory write-down of obsolete parts (note 4) –  165 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (161)  99 
other (71) –

  2,865  433

NOTE 19 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
As described in Note 3(a), the Company conducts a portion of its business through jointly-controlled partnerships.  
The Company accounts for its 50% interest in these jointly-controlled partnerships using the proportionate 
consolidation method. The total amounts and the major components of each of the following relate to the Company’s 
interest in these partnerships:
    2010   2009
  Drilling Services Total drilling services total

  $ $ $ $ $ $

revenue  18,568  1,195   19,763  7,944  1,696  9,640 
expenses  16,339  2,101   18,440  7,685  1,715  9,400 
net earnings 2,229   (906) 1,323   259  (19)  240 
Current assets 4,357   198  4,555  2,470   198  2,668 
Capital and other assets  22,793  2,937   25,730   23,992  3,927   27,919 
Current liabilities (1,834) (1,474) (3,308) (1,949)  (690) (2,639)
long-term debt (2,028)  (338) (2,366) (1,868)  (856) (2,724)
Cash flows from operations 2,392   274  2,666  2,729  1,159  3,888 
Cash flows used in financing  (769)  760  (9) (2,794)  (868) (3,662)
Cash flows used in investing (1,425) (1,036) (2,461)  (800)  (136)  (936)
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Except as disclosed elsewhere, the following related party transactions occurred during the year:
a) In 2010, lease revenue, management fees and other fees in the amount of $2,251 (2009 – $1,579), net of inter-

company eliminations, were earned from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company. Lease amounts have 
been recorded as revenue and management and other fees have been recorded as a reduction of either operating 
expenses or general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings. The total amount owing 
from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company at December 31, 2010 was $2,404 (2009 – $1,731). 

b) In 2010, Savanna incurred lease fees in the amount of $1,978 (2009 – $303), net of inter-company eliminations,  
from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company. Lease fees have been recorded as operating expenses in the 
consolidated statement of earnings and have been netted against amounts owing from the 50% owned partnerships 
(Note 20(a)). 

c) In 2010, revenue in the amount of $3,546 (2009 – $37) was earned from a customer that has a common director  
of the Company.

d) In 2010, Savanna purchased $455 (2009 – $Nil) in equipment from a partnership owned 50% by the Company.
e) In 2010, Savanna advanced a total of $1,300 in cash to two partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company in 

exchange for two promissory notes. Each of the notes bears interest at 7% and requires 48 equal monthly payments  
of $16. The advanced funds were used primarily to pay down current amounts owing by the partnerships to Savanna. 
During the year, the Company received $50 in interest and $168 was applied to the principal owing to Savanna. The 
notes are secured by a general security agreement over all the present and future property of the limited partnerships.

f ) In 2008 the Company provided a $3,035 home relocation loan to an officer who had relocated to another city  
on behalf of the Company. In June 2009 the officer paid $1,612 on the loan. The remaining $1,423 is included in 
accounts receivable and bears interest at prime, which was 3% at December 31, 2010. The amount of interest accrued 
on the loan to the end of December 2010 was $48. Effective November 30, 2010, the officer ceased employment with 
the Company; the terms of the loan have been extended to August 31, 2011. The loan receivable is secured by  
a first charge mortgage over various properties owned by the officer, the fair value of which is estimated to exceed 
the fair value of the loan. 

The related party transactions in (a), (b) and (c) above were in the normal course of operations and have been measured 
at the exchange amounts, which are the amounts of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties and 
which, in the opinion of management, are considered similar to those negotiable with third parties. The related party 
transactions in (d), (e) and (f ) above were not in the normal course of operations and have been recorded in these 
financial statements at their carrying amounts. 

NOTE 21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term debt. All of the Company’s financial instruments were classified as either 
held for trading, loans and receivables or other financial liabilities. The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments 
were determined as follows:
i) The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximates their fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
ii) The fair values of the Company’s notes receivable and long-term debt are estimated based on quoted market prices 

for the same or similar issues or current rates offered to the Company for similar financial instruments subject to 
similar risks and maturities. The fair values of these financial instruments are not materially different from their 
carrying amounts.

The nature of these financial instruments and the Company’s operations expose the Company to financial risks. 
Financial risk management is the responsibility of the Company’s corporate finance function. The main objective of  
the Company’s risk management process is to properly identify financial risks and minimize the exposure to potential 
losses arising from those risks. The nature of the Company’s operations and the issuance of long-term debt expose the 
Company to risks of varying degrees of significance. The principal financial risks to which the Company is exposed  
are described in a) to d) below. The Company does not manage these risks through the use of derivative instruments.
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a) Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as revenues, expenses and working capital derived from  
its foreign operations are denominated in U.S. dollars, Australian dollars and Mexican pesos. In addition, the Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries are subject to translation gains and losses on consolidation. Realized foreign exchange gains and 
losses are included in net earnings while foreign exchange gains and losses arising on the translation of the assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Company’s foreign operations are included in OCI. At December 31, 2010,  
the Company’s Canadian dollar equivalent of working capital denominated in foreign currencies was as follows:

  2010 2009

  $ $

Working capital denominated in u.s. dollars 16,448   9,917 
Working capital denominated in australian dollars 295  – 
Working capital denominated in Mexican pesos  1,372  (876)

  18,115   9,041

The Company also holds U.S. dollar denominated debt (Note 10(a)) which it uses to manage the exposure to foreign 
exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of its self-sustaining U.S. operations included in OCI. 

The Company’s sensitivity to foreign currency fluctuations for the year ended December 31, 2010 is as follows: all else 
being equal, a hypothetical strengthening of 5% of each of the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar and Mexican peso against  
the Canadian dollar would have increased (decreased) net earnings before income taxes and OCI as follows:

    u.s. australian Mexican 2010
    dollar dollar peso Total

     $ $ $ $

net earnings before income taxes 129 (168)  109  70
oCi  7,204  (181)  93  7,116 

    7,333  (349)  202  7,186 

    u.s. australian Mexican 2009
    dollar dollar peso total

     % % $ $

net earnings before income taxes  219   –  (3)  216 
oCi  7,977   –   574  8,551 

    8,196   –   571  8,767

For a hypothetical 5% weakening of each of the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar and Mexican peso against the Canadian 
dollar, there would be an equal and opposite effect on net earnings before income taxes and OCI to that presented  
in the tables above. 

b) INTEREST RATE RISK
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on a portion of its notes receivable and long-term debt and does not 
currently hold any financial instruments that mitigate this risk. The Company’s floating-rate notes receivable are subject 
to interest rate cash flow risk, as the cash received will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. The Company’s 
fixed-rate notes receivable and fixed-rate debt are subject to interest rate price risk, as the values will fluctuate as a result 
of changes in market interest rates. Floating-rate debt is subject to interest rate cash flow risk, as the required cash flows 
to service the debt will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates.
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Of the Company’s total notes receivable at December 31, 2010, 20% was fixed-rate (2009 – 16%) and 80% was floating-
rate (2009 – 84%). Of the Company’s total debt at December 31, 2010, 2% was fixed-rate debt (2009 – 4%) and 98% was 
floating-rate debt (2009 – 96%). The remainder of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not exposed to interest 
rate risk. For the year ended December 31, 2010, all else being equal, a 1% increase in interest rates on floating-rate notes 
receivable and floating-rate debt would have decreased net earnings before income taxes by $973 (2009 – $1,148). For a 
1% decrease in interest rates on floating-rate notes receivable and floating-rate debt, there would be an equal and 
opposite effect on net earnings before income taxes.

C) CREDIT RISK
Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers and 
partners in the form of outstanding accounts and notes receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the 
carrying value of the financial assets. 

As stated above, the carrying amount of accounts receivable reflects management’s assessment of the credit risk 
associated with its customers. The Company generally grants unsecured credit to its customers; however, the Company 
applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all new customers and analyzes and reviews the financial health of its  
current customers on an ongoing basis. The allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are reviewed by 
management on a monthly basis. Accounts receivable are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they 
are past due or when objective evidence is received that a customer will default. The Company takes into consideration 
the customer’s payment history, their credit worthiness and the current economic environment in which the customer 
operates to assess impairment. The Company accounts for a specific bad debt provision when management considers 
that the expected recovery is less than the actual amount receivable. When a receivable balance is considered 
uncollectible it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously 
written off is included in net earnings. 

Based on the nature of its operations, Savanna will always have a concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion  
of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the oil and gas industry and are subject to normal industry 
credit risks. For the year ended December 31, 2010, ten customers comprised 43% of revenue (2009 – 54%) and 44% of 
accounts receivable (2009 – 39%). In the same period, one customer comprised 9% of revenue (2009 – 10%) and 9% of 
accounts receivable (2009 – 5%). At December 31, 2010, approximately 96% (2009 – 86%) of trade accounts receivable 
had been outstanding for less than 90 days. 

The following details the age of outstanding accounts receivable and the related allowance for doubtful accounts:

  2010 2009

  $ $

trade accounts receivable: 
 not overdue (outstanding for less than 30 days) 48,268  32,113 
 past due for more than one day but not more than three months 46,925  24,765 
 past due for more than three months but not more than six months 2,170  1,381 
 past due for more than six months 799  5,470 
 less allowance for doubtful accounts (713) (4,538)
accrued accounts receivable 12,465  12,649 
other accounts receivable* 7,299  6,569 

  117,213  78,409 

*  other accounts receivable consist of input tax credits, amounts due from 50% owned limited partnerships (note 20(a)) and a home  
relocation loan (note 20(f)).
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The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
  2010 2009

  $ $

Balance, beginning of year  (4,538)  (6,603)
additional allowance  –  (260)
amounts used 3,858  1,757 
Changes due to changes in foreign exchange rates  (33)  568 

Balance, end of year (713)  (4,538)

D) LIqUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due or can  
do so only at excessive cost. The Company maintains what it believes to be a conservatively leveraged balance sheet and 
can finance any future growth through one of, or a combination, of internally generated cash flows, borrowing under 
existing credit facilities, the issuance of debt or the issuance of equity, according to its capital management objectives. 
Given the Company’s currently available liquid resources as compared to its contractual obligations, management 
assesses the Company’s liquidity risk to be low. The expected maturities of the Company’s contractual obligations, 
including interest, are as follows:

  Jun. 30 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31 dec. 31
For the period ended  2011 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total

  $ $ $ $ $ $

Bank indebtedness (note 9) 15,429  – – – – 15,429 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,795   – – – –  48,795 
long-term debt* 3,531  12,192  40,698  66,592  348   123,361 
operating leases (notes 12(a) and (b)) 2,249  2,038  3,403  1,148  1,056   9,894 
Capital commitments (note 12(c)) 92,588 20,046 – – – 112,634

  162,592  34,276  44,101  67,740  1,404   310,113 

*  assumes the Company’s term revolving credit facility (note 10(a)) is not renewed in 2011. interest payments required on the term revolving credit 
facility are estimated based on an assumed static prime rate of interest.

For 2011 and the foreseeable future, the Company expects cash flow from operations, working capital and from its 
various sources of financing to be sufficient to meet its debt repayments and future obligations, and to fund anticipated 
capital expenditures.
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